

Imperial Valley Continuum of Care Council CA 613

Written Standards 2022

September 2022

Table of Contents

Introduction	4
Section I: System Level Principles and Standards	5
System Level Principles	5
System Level Standards	5
Housing First	5
Trauma Informed Care Approach	6
Addressing Racial Disparities	6
Inclusion of Individuals with Lived Experience	7
Coordinated Entry System Participation	7
Homeless Management Information System (HMIS) Use	7
Data to Inform Program Decision-Making	8
Fair Housing, Equal Opportunity and Equal Access	8
Emergency Transfer for Victims of Domestic Violence	
Access to Mainstream Resources	10
Educational and Early Childhood Services	10
Income Determination	10
Duplication of Benefits	11
Termination and Grievance Procedures	11
Records and Recordkeeping	11
Section II: Program Level Principles and Standards	13
Homelessness Prevention	13
Street Outreach	15
Emergency Shelter	16
Transitional Housing	18
Rapid Rehousing	19
Permanent Supportive Housing	27
Appendix A. Glossary of Terms	29
Appendix B. Imperial County's CoC Prioritization Policy	32
Appendix C. Recordkeeping and Documentation Requirements	33
Appendix D. Emergency Transfer Plan for Victims of Domestic Violence	34
Appendix E. Emergency Solutions Grant Violence Against Women Act Compliance	

Policy	.37
Appendix F. Educational Assurances Plan	41
Appendix G. Duplication of Benefits (DOB) for Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG) Policy	. 43
Appendix H. Personally Identifying Information (PII) ESG Policy	. 46

INTRODUCTION

The Imperial Valley Continuum of Care Council (IVCCC) is the name of Imperial County's Continuum of Care (CoC) which plans and coordinates the housing and supportive services system for people experiencing homelessness. The mission of the IVCCC is to engage individuals and organizations of Imperial County in a community-based process that works to end homelessness in the region, address the underlying causes of homelessness, and lessen the negative impact of homelessness on individuals, families, and community.

The IVCCC strives to be participant-centered by providing services that are tailored to the unique needs and strengths of those experiencing homelessness. Service providers and other stakeholders of the IVCCC service area are committed to providing empathic, consistent, predictable, non-judgmental support to individuals and families experiencing homelessness; are willing to coordinate comprehensive support to help people achieve and maintain income, housing, self-sufficiency and an improved quality of life.

Effective service provision and positive outcomes for participants require that service providers have a positive, hopeful, and supportive relationship with participants.

These Written Standards (Standards) are intended to support the IVCCC's mission by providing a framework for participants in the Imperial County's CoC, who work together with mutual respect, collectively serving the needs of individuals and families experiencing homelessness (see Appendix A Glossary of Terms HUD's Definition of Homelessness). The Standards, adopted by the IVCCC Executive Board and General Membership, represent the norms of service delivery for our entire community and serve as a guide to the network of resources specifically targeted to address homelessness in the region.

The IVCCC will provide access to the Standards for community stakeholders, including agencies receiving United States Housing and Urban Development (HUD) CoC Program, Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG), and grant funding targeted to homelessness and other social needs. The IVCCC Standards are also designed to comply with the federal Homeless Emergency Assistance and Rapid Transition to Housing (HEARTH) Act. The Standards are subject to regular review and updates based on changes to local needs and requirements at the State and Federal level.

For the benefit of program participants, the Standards will be applied to all programs, including those that receive Housing and Urban Development (HUD) funding through CoC Program Competition, ESG, and the State of California ESG Program. Although not required, programs that receive funding through other sources are also encouraged to follow these Standards, and funder of housing services are encouraged to adopt the Standards for the programs they support.

The IVCCC has established operating principles and standards to support the implementation and adherence to the Standards among service providers by:

- Providing trainings, facilitating learning collaborations, and distributing resources on best practices to support implementation and fidelity to the Standards;
- Conducting program monitoring to ensure program-level adherence to the Standards; and
- Monitoring system performance to regularly measure the community's overall progress in meeting the needs of people experiencing homelessness and gauge progress in preventing and ending homelessness in the region.

SECTION I: SYSTEM LEVEL PRINCIPLES AND STANDARDS

SYSTEM LEVEL PRINCIPLES

In keeping with the goals and objectives of the IVCCC, activities provided through local agencies will work to support the mission of ending homelessness and lessening the negative impacts on people experiencing homelessness and on communities. A series of principles and best practices have been developed and are integral to ensuring that homelessness is rare, brief, and nonrecurring. Additionally, these principles and best practices will serve as a guide in establishing new homeless services programming in the future. Core system level standards include:

- Housing First Approach
- Trauma-Informed Care Approach
- Addressing Racial Disparities
- Inclusion of Individuals with Lived Experience
- Coordinated Entry System (CES) Participation
- Homeless Management Information System (HMIS) Use
- Data to Inform Program Decision-Making
- Fair Housing, Equal Opportunity and Equal Access
- Emergency Transfer for Victims of Domestic Violence
- Access to Mainstream Resources
- Educational and Early Childhood Services
- Income Determination
- Duplication of Benefits
- Termination and Grievance Procedures
- · Records and Recordkeeping

SYSTEM LEVEL STANDARDS

HOUSING FIRST

Housing First prioritizes rapid placement and stabilization in permanent housing without service participation requirements or preconditions for entry (such as sobriety, minimum income requirements, criminal record, completion of treatment, and participation in services or other conditions that create barriers to entry). Case management and supportive services are offered to program participants to maximize housing stability and prevent returns to homelessness. Participation in these services is voluntary and based on the needs and desires of the program participant, but can and should be used to persistently engage participants to ensure housing stability.

A Housing First approach incorporates other best practices including harm reduction - a public health framework that seeks to minimize the harm of a given behavior if the individual is not willing to abstain - and a person-centered non-judgmental approach that is compassionate, respectful, and views every person individually, allows for people to make their own choices in regard to housing and services, and ensures services are tailored to each person's unique situation. A

Housing First approach also removes unnecessary barriers and assumes that supportive services are more effective in addressing needs when an individual or family is sheltered or housed and the daily stress of experiencing homelessness is taken out of the equation.

A Housing First philosophy can and is recommended to be used in all phases of the homeless housing and services system, including Homelessness Prevention, Street Outreach, Emergency Shelter, Transitional Housing, Rapid Re-Housing, and Permanent Supportive Housing.

Additionally, SB 1380, signed into law by Governor Jerry Brown in 2016, requires recipients of California state funding that provides housing or housing-related services to people experiencing homelessness adopt guidelines and regulations to include Housing First policies.

TRAUMA-INFORMED CARE

Programs are expected to utilize a trauma-informed care approach to provide housing and services to persons experiencing homelessness. The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) provides the following framework for the provision of trauma-informed care:

A program, organization, or system that is trauma-informed realizes the widespread impact of trauma and understands potential paths for recovery; recognizes the signs and symptoms of trauma in clients, families, staff, and others involved with the system; and responds by fully integrating knowledge about trauma into policies, procedures, and practices, and seeks to actively resist re-traumatization.

Homeless service providers must incorporate the principles of trauma-informed care throughout key components of their programs, including in program written policies and procedures and staff training protocols.

ADDRESSING RACIAL DISPARITIES

Racial disparities exist within Imperial County's population experiencing homelessness. Programs are expected to address racial disparities that exist within their programs and organizations and promote racial equity. This includes the following:

- Review program data on participant race and ethnicity collected in HMIS including participants served, length of time in the program, housing placements, housing stability, and other outcomes such as income attainment and non-cash benefits attainment – to ensure the program is serving people at equitable rates and achieving equitable outcomes based on the demographics of persons experiencing homelessness.
- Review program environment to ensure that it is culturally inclusive such as understanding what holidays are being celebrated, providing bilingual signs/forms, and others.
- Analyze existing policies and processes to ensure that they do not create unintentional barriers for people of color to access, engage, and remain connected to housing and/or services.
- Analyze program policies to see if people are experiencing different results of certain policies or ways they are enforced.
- Seek regular training for staff and participating organizations on racial equity and inclusion.

• Seek to diversify staff and Board composition to help ensure personnel is as reflective as possible of those experiencing homelessness within their programs.

INCLUSION OF INDIVIDUALS WITH LIVED EXPERIENCE

Individuals with lived experience are experts in homeless services. Programs need to provide opportunities for people who have lived experience of homelessness to provide expert advice and opinions on policy, procedures, and services delivery. Programs are expected to engage participants in ongoing program evaluation, solicit feedback on program services quality, and make improvements based on input.

The CoC Program requires that each recipient and subrecipient involve, to the maximum extent practicable, persons experiencing homelessness through employment, volunteer services, or otherwise constructing, rehabilitating, maintaining, operating, and providing services for CoC programs. Additionally, each CoC and ESG funded organization must have participant representation on a governing or decision-making body within the organization as well as promote the hiring of people with lived experience.

CoC and ESG funded programs are strongly encouraged to appropriately compensate, with IVCCC Executive Board approval, participation of persons with lived experience for their expertise in program design, implementation, and decision-making processes. All programs are encouraged to seek funding to support appropriate compensation for persons with lived experience.

Coordinated Entry System (CES) Participation

CES is a HUD mandated system process that standardizes the steps of moving individuals and families towards housing. CES serves as a centralized system for people experiencing a housing crisis to access assistance through a process that coordinates program participant access, assessment, prioritizations and referrals to homeless housing and services (see Appendix B and C). The IVCCC Executive Board has adopted CES Policies and Procedures for the CoC.

All CoC and ESG programs are required to participate in CES. State-funded and other homeless service providers may also be required by grant funding source to participate in CES. Programs not required to participate are strongly encouraged to participate in CES to improve system wide utilization and coordination of homeless response resources. Participation requires following all established policies and procedures outlined in the IVCCC CES Policies and Procedures. The Place Value Assessment (PVA) tool will be used by the CES access points to assess individuals experiencing homelessness. Information on the CES access sites will be provided on the IVCCC website.

HMIS USE

HMIS is a local web-based information system that the IVCCC uses to collect client-level data on the provision of housing and services to individuals and families through the homeless response system. The IVCCC uses the software Clarity for its HMIS installation with the Regional Task

Force on Homelessness (RTFH) serving as the HMIS provider. While IVCCC and RTFH jointly set policies for system users, RTFH manages day-to-day system operations, and provides training and technical support for all HMIS users.

The HEARTH Act requires that all CoC and ESG funded programs participate in the HMIS. All programs must comply with HUD's standards on participation, data collection, and reporting under a local HMIS and the IVCCC's HMIS Policies and Procedures. For those non-HUD funded programs that serve those experiencing homelessness, the IVCCC strongly encourages HMIS participation.

DATA TO INFORM PROGRAM DECISION-MAKING

All programs are expected to regularly review program data throughout the year to support ongoing program decision-making and use data to make program improvements. Programs need to analyze key performance indicators including length of time in programs, successful placements in housing, income and non-cash benefits attainment, and returns to homelessness. Programs have the capacity to regularly run reports in HMIS such as the Annual Performance Report (APR), among others, to review program performance data. Programs should discuss their data regularly among staff and other stakeholders to understand current performance, strategize activities for improvement, and set new timelines for further review.

In addition to performance data, programs need to also regularly review program data for quality and timeliness of entry and ensure high data quality. It is expected that programs input data into the HMIS in real-time. This minimum expectation for data timeliness helps to ensure the reliability and validity of client-level data collected in HMIS.

FAIR HOUSING, EQUAL OPPORTUNITY AND EQUAL ACCESS

All programs must comply with the non-discrimination and equal opportunity provisions of federal civil rights laws as specified in 24 C.F.R. 5.105(a) and 24 C.F.R. 5.2005, including but not limited to the following:

- Fair Housing Act
- Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act
- Title VI of the Civil Rights Act
- Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act
- HUD's Equal Access Rule
- Violence Against Women Act (VAWA) Protections
- Local and state non-discrimination laws

Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing: Programs must have non-discrimination policies in place and conduct assertive outreach to people least likely to engage in the homeless system. Organizations receiving CoC and/or ESG Program funding shall market housing and supportive services to eligible persons regardless of race, color, national origin, religion, sex, age, familial status, ancestry, marital status, sexual orientation, gender identity or disability; and, shall provide program applicants and participants with information, in writing, on their rights and remedies under applicable federal, state, and local fair housing and civil rights laws. **Integration and Accessibility (Fair Housing and Equal Opportunity):** Housing and services must be offered in an integrated manner, such that persons with disabilities may enjoy a meaningful life within the community. Providers shall offer housing and supportive services to enable individuals with disabilities to interact with nondisabled persons to the fullest extent possible.

Reasonable Accommodations and Modifications for Persons with Disabilities: Programs are required to provide reasonable accommodations and modifications for persons with disabilities. Under the Fair Housing Act, a reasonable modification is a structural change made to the premises whereas a reasonable accommodation is a change, exception, or adjustment to a rule, policy, practice, or service. A person with a disability may need either a reasonable accommodation or a reasonable modification, or both, in order to have an equal opportunity to use and enjoy a dwelling, including public and common use spaces. Generally, under the Fair Housing Act, the housing provider is responsible for the costs associated with a reasonable accommodation unless it is an undue financial and administrative burden, while the tenant or someone acting on the tenant's behalf, and is responsible for costs associated with a reasonable modification. Recipients must inform applicants during the intake process of their right to request a reasonable accommodation or modification.

Discrimination Based on Actual or Perceived Gender: HUD's Equal Access in Accordance with Gender Identity Final Rule (Equal Access Rule) requires that HUD-funded housing and shelter be made available to individuals and families without regard to actual or perceived sexual orientation, gender identity, or marital status. The rule defines "gender identity" to mean "actual or perceived gender-related characteristics." The final rule also prohibits owners and administrators of HUD-assisted or HUD-insured housing, approved lenders in an FHA mortgage insurance program, and any other recipients or subrecipients of HUD funds from inquiring about sexual orientation or gender identity to determine eligibility for HUD-assisted or HUD-insured housing.

Discrimination Based on Household Composition: Programs cannot discriminate against a group of persons presenting as a family based on the composition of the family, the age of any member of the family, the disability status of any members of the family, marital status, actual or perceived sexual orientation, or gender identity. The people who present together for assistance, regardless of age or relationship, are considered a household and are eligible for assistance as a household. Programs that serve families with children must serve all types of families with children; if a program targets a specific population, (e.g. Veterans experiencing homelessness), these programs must serve all families with children that are otherwise eligible for assistance, including families with children that are headed by a single adult or consist of multiple adults who reside together.

EMERGENCY TRANSFER FOR VICTIMS OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

Programs serving individuals or families qualified under Category 4 of the Defining "Homeless" Rule (persons fleeing or attempting to flee violent situations) must follow all related federal and state laws and confidentiality policies and must establish written policies and procedures regarding the provision of specific services to meet the safety and special needs of this population. IVCCC promotes the safety of participants by establishing an Emergency Transfer Plan (ETP)

policy and protocol to guide the housing relocation process for participants who are at imminent risk of harm if they remain in their current housing unit (see Appendix D Emergency Transfer Plan for Victims of Domestic Violence). The ETP is designed to comply with the Violence Against Women Act (VAWA) and work cooperatively with other components of the region-wide system (see Appendix E Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG) for Violence Against Women's Act Compliance Policy). Requests for emergency transfer are available regardless of sex, gender identity, or sexual orientation. However, the ability of a provider to honor such request for participants currently receiving assistance may depend upon a preliminary determination that the participant is or has been a victim of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking, and on whether provider has another dwelling unit that is available and is safe to offer the participant for temporary or more permanent occupancy.

ACCESS TO MAINSTREAM RESOURCES

The IVCCC expects that every agency funded through the CoC or ESG programs will coordinate with and access mainstream and other targeted homeless resources with the goal to increase the household's capacity to obtain or maintain housing. Programs should assess and assist participants with obtaining any mainstream resources for which they may be eligible for including: CalWORKs, Veterans Health Care, CalFresh, Medi-Cal, Social Security, Supplemental Security Income (SSI), child and adult care food program, linkage to behavioral and physical health services, legal, educational services, childcare, employment and other available assistance. This linkage happens through case management, assessment, outreach and post-housing follow up. Where possible, programs should streamline processes that include applying for mainstream benefits such as the use of a singular form to apply for benefits or collecting all necessary information in one-step.

EDUCATIONAL AND EARLY CHILDHOOD SERVICES

Programs must ensure access to education for children. Each housing and housing case management program must be aware of, and inform family and youth-only households of the educational rights of children and unaccompanied youth in their programs. Programs serving families or youth should adhere to the provisions of the IVCCC Educational Assurances Plan (see Appendix F).

INCOME DETERMINATION

Minimum standards for determination of an individual or family's annual income consist of calculating income in compliance with 24 CFR §5.609. Annual income is defined as all amounts, monetary or not, which:

- Go to, or on behalf of, the family head or spouse (even if temporarily absent) or to any other family member; or
- Are anticipated to be received from a source outside the family during the 12-month period following admission or annual reexamination effective date; and
- Which are not specifically excluded in paragraph (c) of 24 CFR 5.609.

• Annual income also means amounts derived (during the 12-month period) from assets to which any member of the family has access.

In verifying income, ESG and CoC programs are required to obtain source documents whenever possible. Self-certification or verification is to be accepted only when all efforts have been made to obtain source documents or third-party verification have not produced results.

DUPLICATION OF BENEFITS

Duplication of Benefits occurs when federal financial assistance is provided to a person or entity through a program to address losses resulting from a federally-declared emergency or disaster, and the person or entity has received or would receive financial assistance for the same costs from any other source (including insurance), and the total amount received exceeds the total need for those costs (see Appendix G).

Programs must establish and maintain adequate procedures to prevent any duplication of benefits.

TERMINATION AND GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES

Programs must have a written grievance procedure, including a formal process for participants to provide feedback and to resolve conflicts experienced within the program. Programs must inform clients of their right to file a grievance and provide clients with a written copy of the grievance procedure upon program intake. Clients have the right to receive a response back when they file a grievance and the right to appeal the program's response. Grievance procedures should provide a reasonable timeframe within which the program will respond to client grievances; the timeframe for a client to appeal the program's response; and the process for submitting an appeal.

Programs must have a written termination policy outlining program expectations and termination processes, including a formal due process. Terminations may only occur in the most severe circumstances. Termination from housing programs should not prohibit the household from being readmitted into the program at a future date. Emergency shelters and other congregate programs may have different standards for termination of assistance and restrictions on reentry for clients that significantly violate program expectations and create dangerous situations for staff and other clients (e.g. violence against others, severe property damage). Any restrictions on reentry should be program-specific and should not restrict client participation in other supportive services, shelters, or housing programs in the region that can help resolve their housing crisis.

RECORDS AND RECORDKEEPING

All recipients and subrecipients of ESG and/or CoC program funds must follow the minimum standards, which include ensuring sufficient written records are established and maintained to enable the ESG recipient, the CoC and HUD to determine whether ESG/CoC requirements are being met and comply with §576.500 and 578.103.

Compliance with HUD's ESG and CoC (24 CFR §576 and §578) requirements for:

Shelter and Housing:

- Homeless status
- At risk of homelessness status
- Determinations of ineligibility
- Annual income
- Program participant records are kept secure and confidential
- Centralized or coordinated assessment systems and procedures
- Rental assistance agreements and payments
- Environmental review
- Lobbying and disclosure (24 CFR part 87)
- Displacement, relocation, and acquisition
- Procurement (24 CFR §84.40-84.48)
- Utility Allowance
- Emergency shelter facilities
- Services and assistance provided
- Coordination with CoCs and other programs
- Matching
- Financial records
- Subrecipients and contractors
- Period of record retention
- Access to records
- Reports
- Conflict of interest
- Homeless participation

CoC Records and Documentation:

- Evidence that the Board selected meets the requirements of 578.5(b);
- Evidence that the CoC has been established and operated as set forth in subpart B of 24 CFR part 578, including published agendas and meeting minutes, an approved Governance Charter that is reviewed and updated annually, a written process for selecting a board that is reviewed and updated at least every five years, evidence required for designating a single HMIS for the CoC, and monitoring reports of recipients and subrecipients.
- Evidence that the CoC has prepared the HUD application for funds in accordance with 578.9.

ESG Program Participation Records:

- Evidence of homeless status or at risk of homelessness status, as applicable.
- The services and assistance provided to the program participant including, as applicable, the security deposit, rental assistance, and utility payments.
- Compliance with applicable requirements for providing services to a program participant under the program components and eligible activities (576.101-576.106).
- Compliance with applicable requirements for providing services to a program participant under the provision on determining eligibility and the amount and type of assistance (576.401(a) and (b).

SECTION II: PROGRAM LEVEL PRINCIPLES AND STANDARDS

This section defines program-specific expectations and requirements including eligibility, prioritization, minimum standards, and performance benchmarks. Programs funded under the CoC and ESG programs are required to use these standards. IVCCC strongly encourages all other programs regardless of funding source to follow the standards for their program type to the greatest extent possible.

HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION

Homelessness Prevention aids individuals and families in a permanent housing setting facing imminent housing loss to prevent them from moving to an emergency shelter, a place not meant for human habitation, or another location described in paragraph (1) of HUD's homeless definition. Services may include:

- Rental assistance: rental assistance and rental arrears.
- Financial assistance: rental application fees, security and utility deposits, utility payments, last month's rent, moving costs.
- Services: housing search and placement, housing stability case management, landlord-tenant mediation, tenant legal services, credit repair.

Homelessness Prevention is designed to allow individuals and families receiving assistance to remain stably housed after the conclusion of such assistance.

Participant Eligibility

For ESG Homelessness Prevention programs, assistance may be provided to households who meet the criteria under the At Risk of Homelessness definition, or who meet the criteria in paragraph (2), (3), or (4) of the homeless definition and have an annual income below 30% of Area Median Income (AMI). Eligibility documentation requirements vary depending on which criteria are met. For Homeless Category 2, the household will lose their housing within 14 days. While for At Risk Category 1C, the household has been notified in writing that their right to occupy housing will be terminated within 21 days. (See Appendix A for Glossary of Terms for HUD's Definition of Homelessness)

Homelessness Prevention programs that are funded through local, state, private, or other federally funded sources may use the above standards for ESG programs, or may establish their own standards regarding participant eligibility in alignment with funding source requirements. Programs that establish their own standards ensure that they are targeting Homelessness Prevention resources to individuals and households most in need of assistance. It is recommended that all Homelessness Prevention programs serve households with an annual income that is no greater than 30% of AMI to ensure that these resources are prioritized for those households at greatest risk of experiencing homelessness without assistance.

Prioritization

Prioritization for Homelessness Prevention assistance is given to individuals and families meeting Category 2 of the Homeless definition who have: (1) a past episode of homelessness within the last 12 months, (2) a past episode of homelessness, and (3) no prior episodes of homelessness.

Minimum Standards

The following standards apply specifically and in their entirety to ESG Homelessness Prevention programs. Other Homelessness Prevention programs are encouraged to accept and utilize these minimum standards, but have the flexibility to adapt these standards to align with their funding source requirements as desired and appropriate.

- Programs must assess each household's situation prior to administering financial assistance and use diversion/housing problem solving techniques to try to resolve the housing crisis before providing Homelessness Prevention services and assistance.
- Participants must have a written lease in order to receive rental assistance.
- Eligible participants are able to receive up to 24 months of rental assistance during any 3year period.
- Participants receiving more than one-month rental assistance are required to meet with staff at least once per month.
- If financial assistance is warranted, the program uses a progressive engagement approach that only provides the level assistance necessary to resolve the housing crisis and ensure stability.
- Rental assistance will only be provided through the ESG program if the total rent for the unit does not exceed the fair market rent (FMR) established by HUD and complies with HUD's standard of rent reasonableness, unless a waiver is in effect allowing rents to exceed FMR.
- Once the housing crisis is stabilized, programs will connect households to communitybased services and resources to ensure long-term stability. This may include employment, legal, food, health, mainstream benefits, and others.
- When ESG Rental Assistance and/or Housing Relocation and Stabilization Services are provided under the Homelessness Prevention component to help a program participant remain in or move into permanent housing, the ESG minimum habitability standards apply to either the current unit (if the program participant is staying in place) or to a new unit (if the program participant is moving).

Minimum Performance Benchmarks for Homelessness Prevention

Homeless Prevention programs will be evaluated on HUD's System Performance Measures and reported on an annual basis to ensure they are operating efficiently. Upon completion of the System Performance Measures reporting process, CoC staff with guidance from the IVCCC Executive Board will lead evaluation efforts.

System Performance Measure: Number of Persons who Become Homeless for the first time.

This system performance measure evaluates the number of persons who become homeless for the first time during the reporting period. This measure focuses on whether that number is getting larger, staying the same, or getting smaller. The goal of this measure is to reduce every year the number of people who become homeless for the first time.

STREET OUTREACH

Street Outreach is a professional homeless services intervention that supports unsheltered individuals with accessing permanent or temporary housing by building trusting relationships and ongoing rapport. Street Outreach seeks to engage individuals living unsheltered in a culturally competent and trauma informed manner to provide links to mainstream services, and use diversion and problem-solving techniques to connect people with safe housing options whenever possible. The goal of Street Outreach is to find affordable housing for each individual, which often requires time and multiple ongoing interactions with individuals experiencing unsheltered homelessness. Each interaction should be seen as an opportunity for outreach staff to build a relationship and help people work toward making a connection to housing and services.

Participant Eligibility

For ESG Street Outreach programs, individuals and families must meet the HUD definition of Literally Homeless (Category 1) and specifically have a primary nighttime residence that is a public or private place not meant for human habitation (unsheltered persons).

Street Outreach programs that are funded through local, state, private, or other federally funded sources may use the above standards for ESG programs, or may establish their own standards regarding participant eligibility in alignment with funding source requirements. Programs that establish their own standards should ensure that they are targeting Street Outreach resources to individuals and families in unsheltered situations.

Prioritization

Prioritization follows the CoC Prioritization Policy (Appendix B and C). Additionally, Street Outreach services may at times be prioritized to people who may be living in a specific encampment that has been identified for closure and who may need more immediate transition assistance. Street Outreach services should be prioritized and targeted to those individuals identified as most in need. Street Outreach services should target those most in need of more intensive services, encompassing case management and navigation services and be provided these services over a longer duration focused on housing placement.

Minimum Standards

Individuals and families are eligible for Street Outreach if they are unsheltered homeless based on Category 1 of the Homeless definition and are eligible for the following activities, in compliance with ESG rules (24 CFR 576.101): Engagement, Case Management, Emergency Health and Mental Health Services, Transportation, and Services for Special Populations.

Street Outreach program staff engage unsheltered homeless individuals and families by providing immediate support, intervention, and connections with homeless assistance programs, mainstream social services and housing programs. The staff will utilize the PVA tool to determine the level of need and assist with referrals to services. Essential services must be tied directly to the needs and barriers identified in the PVA assessment by addressing urgent physical needs. Case management includes assessing housing and service needs, arranging, coordinating and monitoring the delivery of individualized services to meet the needs of the program participant. Services for special populations include services for homeless youth, victim services, services for

people living with HIV/AIDS, LGBTQ populations, persons with mental illness, and disabled persons, so long as the costs of providing these services are one of the eligible Street Outreach activities. The term victim services means services that assist program participants who are victims of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking, including services offered by rape crisis centers and domestic violence shelters.

Minimum Performance Benchmarks for Street Outreach

Street Outreach programs will be evaluated on HUD's System Performance Measures and reported on an annual basis to ensure they are operating efficiently. Upon completion of the System Performance Measures reporting process, CoC staff with guidance from the IVCCC Executive Board will lead evaluation efforts.

System Performance Measure: Successful placement from Street Outreach to temporary and permanent housing destinations.

This system performance measure focuses on how successful street outreach projects are at helping people move towards permanent housing, recognizing this process may be direct or may involve other temporary situations along the way. This is important because people living on the street and in places not meant for human habitation are at an increased risk of victimization, illness and/or death. This measure calculates the percent of street outreach clients who had a positive exit as recorded in HMIS during the report period. The measure is looking for an increase in the percentage of people who exit to permanent housing destinations from a street outreach project during the reporting period.

EMERGENCY SHELTER

Emergency Shelter is a low-barrier temporary housing program, in which households experiencing homelessness are provided emergency access to shelter and services without unnecessary barriers or prerequisites to assistance. Emergency Shelters provide services to meet the immediate safety and survival needs of the individual or family served, which may include shelter, food, clothing and other support services while being housing-focused to help participants enter permanent housing.

Participant Eligibility

For ESG Emergency Shelter programs, individuals and families must meet the HUD definition of Literally Homeless (Category 1), At Imminent Risk of Homelessness (Category 2), or Fleeing/Attempting to Flee Domestic Violence (Category 4).

Emergency Shelter programs that are funded through local, state, private, or other federally funded sources may use the above standards for ESG programs, or may establish their own standards regarding participant eligibility in alignment with funding source requirements.

Prioritization

Prioritization follows the CoC Prioritization Policy (Appendix B and C) as well as CES prioritization guidelines within the CES Policies and Procedures.

Minimum Standards

The following standards apply specifically and in their entirety to ESG Emergency Shelter programs. Other Emergency Shelter programs are encouraged to accept and utilize these minimum standards, but have the flexibility to adapt these standards to align with their funding source requirements as desired and appropriate.

- Use a Housing First approach with low barrier admission policies and program operations. Participants cannot be denied entry based on active substance use, limited or no income, current or prior criminal justice involvement, health and mental health challenges, and medication adherence.
- Use a housing focused approach that strives to exit participants to permanent housing as quickly as possible while ensuring basic needs are met and connecting participants to available services.
- Participants may reside in an emergency shelter for the length of time established by each provider's program policies and procedures.
- Do not require occupants to sign leases, occupancy agreements or charge fees or rent to shelter participants.
- Have the availability to operate and allow participants to remain in the shelter 24 hours a day, or as close to 24 hours a day as feasible given shelter and staff capacity.
- Ensure a safe environment for shelter participants and corresponding policies and procedures, including emergency preparedness procedures, are available to staff and participants.
- Diversion services are provided to support participants to resolve their housing crisis immediately.
- Supportive services, including case management, are available to assist persons in obtaining permanent housing as quickly as possible and accessing supportive services. Each participant with staff should create a housing plan.
- Facilities need to provide access (on-site or through program referrals) to meals, clean
 restrooms and showers, hygiene supplies, laundry facilities, and adequate space for
 participants to store personal belongings. Facilities must also ensure compliance with
 public health directives regarding adequate spacing.
- Shelters are strongly encouraged to allow participants' pets to remain in the shelter to create as few barriers to shelter as possible for persons experiencing homelessness. Shelters that allow pets should develop reasonable pet accommodation policies, including considerations for conduct and responsibility regarding pets and their owners; how supplies and resources such as food, crates or kennels will be provided; and how access to veterinary care will be provided.
- Termination or exit from the shelter must only be used when all other options have been explored and this step is necessary to protect the health and safety of staff and participants or when repeated and severe violation of program expectations cannot otherwise be resolved. Programs will document the behavior, any attempts to remedy the issue, program violation, or threat, and the efforts to secure more appropriate housing.
- All participants will be notified of the agency's termination policy. When it is not possible to provide services because of the participant's behavior, efforts will be made by shelter staff to assist the participant in finding alternatives.

Minimum Performance Benchmarks for Emergency Shelter

Emergency Shelter programs will be evaluated on HUD's System Performance Measures and reported on an annual basis to ensure they are operating efficiently. Upon completion of the System Performance Measures reporting process, CoC staff with guidance from the IVCCC Executive Board will lead evaluation efforts.

System Performance Measure: Length of Time Persons Remain Homeless.

This system performance measure evaluates length of time homeless, measuring the average and median length of time people spend in homeless situations (including Emergency Shelters). This measure focuses on whether that time period is getting shorter, staying the same, or getting longer.

System Performance Measure: Successful Placement in Permanent Housing

This system performance measure focuses on how successful emergency shelter projects are at helping people move off the "street" and towards permanent housing. This is important because people living on the street and in places not meant for human habitation are at an increased risk of victimization, illness and/or death. This measure calculates the percent of Emergency Shelter clients who have exited to a permanent housing destination as recorded in HMIS during the report period. The measure is looking for an increase in the percentage of people who exit to permanent housing destinations from an emergency shelter project during the reporting period.

TRANSITIONAL HOUSING

Transitional Housing (TH) is time-limited temporary housing program (up to 24 months) that provides a variety of supportive services to facilitate the movement of households experiencing homelessness to permanent housing.

Participant Eligibility

For CoC Transitional Housing programs, individuals and families must meet the HUD definition of Literally Homeless (Category 1), At Imminent Risk of Homelessness (Category 2), or Fleeing/Attempting to Flee Domestic Violence (Category 4). See Appendix A for HUD's definition of homelessness categories 1, 2, and 4. TH programs must also follow any additional eligibility criteria set forth in the HUD CoC NOFA through which a program was funded and the grant agreement.

TH programs that are funded through local, state, private, or other federally funded sources may use the above standards for CoC programs, or may establish their own standards regarding participant eligibility in alignment with funding source requirements.

Prioritization

Prioritization follows the CoC Prioritization Policy as well as CES prioritization guidelines within the CES Policies and Procedures. See Appendix B for Imperial County CoC Prioritization Policy. *Minimum Standards*

The following standards apply specifically and in their entirety to CoC TH programs. Other Transitional Housing programs are encouraged to accept and utilize these minimum standards, but have the flexibility to adapt these standards to align with their funding source requirements as desired and appropriate.

- Assistance in helping participants transition to permanent housing must be made available and provided as early as possible.
- Participants in Transitional Housing must enter into a lease, sublease or occupancy agreement upon program entry for a term of at least one month.
- Facilities need to provide meals, clean restrooms and showers, hygiene supplies, laundry facilities, have adequate space for participants to store personal belongings, and ensure compliance with public health directives regarding adequate spacing.
- Supportive services must be offered throughout the duration of the stay.
- Educational advancement, job preparation and employment attainment, and health and behavioral health care services must be provided or coordinated through external referrals.
- Assistance in accessing mainstream benefits, including benefits such as CalFresh, CalWORKs, General Relief, disability, childcare assistance, and health insurance must be provided.
- Individualized case management is available at minimum every week to each household who is admitted into the program.
- Maximum length of stay cannot exceed 24 months for CoC-funded programs. It is recommended that programs only provide housing and services for what is essential for the person to move to stable permanent housing.

Minimum Performance Benchmarks for Transitional Housing

Transitional Housing Programs will be evaluated on HUD's System Performance Measures and reported on an annual basis to ensure they are operating efficiently. Upon completion of the System Performance Measures reporting process, CoC staff with guidance from the IVCCC Executive Board will lead evaluation efforts.

System Performance Measure: Successful placement in permanent housing.

This system performance measure focuses on how successful transitional housing projects are at helping people move towards permanent housing. This measure calculates the percent of Transitional Housing clients who have exited to a permanent housing destination as recorded in HMIS during the report period. The measure is looking for an increase in the percentage of people who exit to permanent housing destinations from a transitional housing project during the reporting period.

RAPID REHOUSING PROGRAMS

Rapid Rehousing (RRH) is a person-centered intervention designed to help individuals and families quickly exit homelessness and obtain/maintain permanent housing in the community, and remain stably housed. There are three core components that constitute a RRH program, all of which may be available in order to qualify as a rapid rehousing program. Although RRH programs must have each of the three components available, it is not required that a single entity provides

all three services. Similarly, it is also not required that any one household utilize all three in order to be considered a recipient of rapid rehousing. The core components of a rapid re-housing program include:

Housing Identification (Search and Placement): The goal of housing identification is to quickly locate housing for individuals/families experiencing homelessness. This includes several activities such as recruiting and engaging landlords and helping participants locate and secure housing that is safe and affordable.

- **Financial (Rental and Move-in) Assistance:** The goal of rental and move-in assistance is to help with the costs associated with obtaining housing through short-to medium-term financial support. The amount and duration of this varies, but at a minimum assistance should be based on the level of need to secure and maintain a place to live and flexible enough to meet the unique needs of each participant.
- Case Management and Supportive Services: The goal of case management is to help stabilize participants to retain housing. Once housed, participants are provided with voluntary services by the service provider and connected to other needed services and supports to stabilize and promote successful tenancies. Case management shall focus on helping people navigate barriers that may stand in the way of securing and maintaining housing and build a support system by connecting them with people and programs in the community.

Programs operating RRH are expected to employ a Housing First, Low Barrier, Harm Reduction, Trauma Informed, and Client-centered approach that accounts for the special needs of the population they are serving.

Individuals and families assisted under ESG are required to have annual incomes at or below 30% of the area median at annual assessment.

Participant Eligibility

For CoC and ESG RRH programs, individuals and families must meet the HUD definition of Literally Homeless (Category 1) or Fleeing/Attempting to Flee Domestic Violence (Category 4). See Appendix A for HUD's definition of homelessness categories 1 and 4.

RRH programs that are funded through local, state, private, or other federally funded sources may use the above standards for CoC programs, or may establish their own standards regarding participant eligibility in alignment with funding source requirements.

Prioritization

Prioritization follows the CoC Prioritization Policy (Appendix B) as well as CES prioritization guidelines within the CES Policies and Procedures. RRH programs must receive referrals from CES for program enrollment.

Minimum Standards

The following outlines the principles for each of the core components for providing RRH services.

Housing Identification

Landlord Recruitment, Engagement & Retention

Programs shall have written policies and procedures that outline their process for building and maintaining a pool of partner landlords, including how they will engage in continuous recruitment activities and, at a minimum, offer a basic level of support to all landlords who lease to program

participants. These policies must clearly summarize protocols, points of contact at the agency, communication methods and expectations, and shall be distributed to landlords.

- Staff roles: Programs shall employ staff who are responsible for landlord recruitment and engagement activities. This includes outreach to and negotiation with landlords/property managers as well as ongoing support and engagement.
- Skills and training: To provide support to landlords and program participants, the staff person responsible for landlord recruitment, engagement and retention shall have the knowledge and skills to understand landlord and tenant rights and responsibilities. Staff should possess the knowledge and expertise needed to communicate with landlords in their own 'language' and provide accurate information to participants. Staff responsible for housing search/landlord engagement shall be trained in and familiar with the following:
 Tenant rights
 Conflict resolution/mediation/negotiation
 Federal, state, and local fair housing laws
 - HUD Housing Quality Standards (HQS) and/or habitability checks (per specific funding requirements)
 - Lead-based paint visual inspections (per specific funding requirements)
- Supports for Landlords: Programs shall regularly and proactively connect with the landlord/property manager to address concerns and answer questions. Programs shall have policies and procedures that state their internal process for communication and response to landlord requests (for example, is there a 24-hour phone line; if their main point of contact is unavailable, who is the back-up contact; what is the expected timeframe in which calls will be returned, etc.).

Housing Search

Programs shall have policies and procedures that outline which housing search/location activities staff will assist with versus what the participant is expected to do on their own. These policies shall be written and provided to the participant at intake. Upon enrollment, staff shall conduct assessments with participants to address housing barriers, needs and preferences. Staff shall develop an action plan with the participant which will include assisting program participants in identifying units that are desirable and sustainable - those that are in neighborhoods where they want to live, have access to transportation, are close to employment or school, are safe and within the limits of the participant's budget (or projected future budget). Staff shall assist with applications and negotiations with landlords/property managers, as well as assist with obtaining necessary documentation for meeting landlord requirements, when needed. Housing search and support activities include:

- Assessing tenant needs and barriers to housing placement.
- Setting family or individual expectations on location, size and/or rent.
- Conducting a targeted housing search with a housing affordability plan (household budget).
- Resolving or mitigating tenant screening barriers, such as rental and utility arrears or evictions.

- Providing support for innovative housing options including roommates or shared housing with family or friends.
- Supporting participants with completing rental applications.
- Helping participants to obtain necessary identification.
 Supporting participants with setting up utilities and making moving arrangements.

Housing Location Resources

RRH program staff are encouraged to utilize and partner with housing location resources within the community where available/appropriate to gain access to affordable housing units for participants. Leveraging these resources allows staff to coordinate with landlord liaisons to address any landlord-specific issues, reduces the number of people the landlord engages with, increases customer service, and helps the landlord liaison continue to build their relationship.

Rent Reasonableness & Fair Market Rent

For most publicly funded programs, rental assistance will only be provided if the total rent for a unit complies with HUD's Rent Reasonableness standards and Fair Market Rent (FMR) limits. HUD's rent reasonableness standard is designed to ensure that rents being paid are reasonable in relation to rents being charged for comparable unassisted units in the same market. Programs shall have a written policy (that complies with their specific funding source) and procedure in place to ensure that compliance with rent reasonableness standards is documented prior to executing the lease for an assisted unit. Rent reasonableness policies and procedures must be transparent and consistently applied across their projects, and result in decisions that comply with HUD and/or other funding requirements. At a minimum, a rent reasonableness policy should include a methodology for documenting comparable rents, standards for certifying comparable rents as reasonable, staff assigned to completing this task, and strategies for addressing special circumstances. (e.g., the procedures would provide step-by-step guidance on how to make comparisons between the proposed unit rent and rents for comparable units in that community; the forms would ensure that similar information is included in each case file and would prompt staff to record considerations and conclusions made throughout the process). The program's policy should also specify the definition of "reasonable". For example, a policy could require staff to collect rents for no less than three comparable units and could allow as "reasonable" only rents that are lower than \$50 above the average of the three comparable rents. In this example, rent could be paid that is slightly higher than the individual comparable units and would still be considered "reasonable" under the program's policy. Comparable rents may be checked using a comparison of rental units in the area. Programs shall support participants in making informed choices about 'rent-reasonable' options with the goal of maintaining housing after program exit. This includes assisting participants in exploring all viable housing options that are safe and meet the participant's needs, including shared housing options.

The other key standard in determining the level of program funds that can be used to pay rent for an eligible program participant is the FMR amount for the geography in which the unit is located. HUD establishes FMRs to determine payment standards or rent ceilings for HUD-funded programs that provide housing assistance, which it publishes annually. Federal law requires that

HUD publish final FMRs for use in any fiscal year on October 1—the first day of the fiscal year (FY). The FMR standard is applied to ensure that a reasonable supply of adequate but modest rental housing is accessible to program participants. FMRs for each fiscal year can be found by visiting HUD's website at the following internet web address: <u>http://www.huduser.gov/portal/datasets/fmr.html</u> and clicking on the current "Individual Area Final FMR Documentation System" link. This site allows recipients and subrecipients to search for

FMRs by selecting their state and county from the provided list. The site also provides detailed information on how the FMR is calculated for each area.

Tenant-Based Lease Requirements

Programs shall have written policies that require that all participants have a signed lease directly with the landlord/property manager that meets legal standards, including shared housing participants. In general, program participants must be the tenant on the lease for a term of at least one year that is renewable and terminable only for cause. In some cases, a 12-month lease term may pose a barrier to obtaining housing. In these cases, programs should follow the requirement in their respective funding contract for the required length of a lease to determine whether exceptions can be made. The policy shall state that the participant must pay their portion of the rent directly to the landlord each month. The program will pay any remaining amount (subsidy) directly to the landlord. Programs shall have written procedures that verify lease terms prior to administering financial assistance. In addition, program staff must be trained and able to explain landlord-tenant rights and responsibilities, federal, state, and local fair housing laws, as well as lease requirements/provisions to the participant.

Habitability (Standards and HQS Inspections)

All units supported through RRH funding must meet certain habitability standards prior to a participant entering into a lease for the unit. Program staff shall be trained in these aspects and must ensure that all units are safe and meet these specific contract requirements.

Financial Assistance/Rental Subsidies

Financial assistance is the second core component of RRH, providing flexible assistance to cover move-in costs, deposits, and the rental assistance necessary to move out of homelessness and quickly stabilize in permanent housing. RRH programs shall have written policies and procedures that apply to all participants seeking RRH assistance.

Rental Assistance Standards

Program participants may receive rental assistance on a short- or medium-term basis, depending on their circumstance and need, but in most cases can be up to 24 months (depending on funding source). It is expected that program participants will receive the level of assistance necessary to be stably housed for the long-term and that programs administer rental assistance in a way that is flexible and consistent across all participants. Financial assistance shall not be a standard "package" that is automatically applied; rather it shall be flexible to meet the participant's unique needs. RRH programs should structure their assistance to be provided in an individualized, flexible, and progressive manner. In this way, programs can maximize the ability of available resources to serve the largest number of people possible. The flexible nature of the RRH program model allows agencies to be responsive to the varied and changing needs of program participants and the community. Programs shall ensure their programs are structured to provide individualized, flexible assistance that:

• Targets assistance to be short-term initially and increases or extends as needed for the participant to maintain housing.

 Includes regular case reviews to ensure housing plan progress, review needs, and determine additional assistance, if needed.

At a minimum, written protocols shall clearly outline the methodology for determining the amount or percentage of rent each program participant must pay each month (and how that is calculated), the maximum number of months a participant may receive rental assistance, and the extent to which a program participant must share in the cost of rent. This policy must be flexible to determine the right amount and length of assistance for each individual or household, while being applied consistently amongst participants. Participants with no income are eligible for Rapid Rehousing and cannot be denied RRH solely based on limited or no household income. Participants with no income would not pay any portion of their rent until they obtain income. Programs shall have a process in place to address participants who have no income and are not able to pay any portion of the rent on their own after a designated amount of time.

Client Budgets

Programs shall assist participants in the development of a client-driven budget, (an honest budget – which incorporates the expected or actual expenses to maintain housing) which will be revisited as often as needed, but no less than every 30 days.

Other Allowable Costs: While rent related costs are the most common in RRH, financial assistance for other costs is allowed, depending on specific funding sources, if it contributes to permanent housing and stability. Allowable expenses will vary by fund source, but often include:

- Move-in costs, including deposit and first month's rent
- Rental application fees and payments for background or credit checks
- Previous housing debt/rental arrears, if resolving will facilitate an immediate housing placement
- Utility deposits and arrears needed to secure housing

 Moving costs

Communication with Landlords/Property Managers

To help landlords understand the program and to set expectations, providers should send a letter or document to the landlord outlining the details of the program, including the contact information for staff who will be responsible for ensuring rental subsidies are paid to the landlord each month.

Re-Assessment

Each participant's situation/needs must be re-assessed regularly to establish continued eligibility for and amount of continued financial assistance. Re-assessment must be completed at least every three months (unless otherwise stated in funding contract). If a participant is not housed before the first re-assessment is due, staff and participant will review the participant's housing stability plan and address any barriers to achieving the goals. If progress is not occurring, staff should initiate a conversation around expectations and limitations of the RRH program. Once housed, the re-assessment must include at least the following components:

- Length of financial assistance to date
- Documentation of household income as a percentage of Area Median Income (AMI)
- Percent of income being paid toward rent ratio
- Progress on housing stability income and goals

- Any recent changes in circumstances that will impact income or ability to work
- Any gaps in resources or support networks inhibiting the participant's ability to retain housing once rental assistance ends.

Occasionally, situations come up that put an extra, unexpected financial burden on a participant that affects their ability to pay their portion of the rent, or to need an extended amount of support. Programs shall have a documented process in place for staff to case conference these situations with their supervisor in a way that is consistent across all participants. This would include situations such as:

- Participant has income but cannot afford to pay their portion of the rent due to special/unexpected circumstances
- Participant does not have income after 6 months of receiving 100% rental subsidy
- Participant cannot take over their full rent after 12 months of rental subsidy
- Participant needs an additional month or increased amount of assistance after increasing their income to rent ratio (for example, someone who had been paying 60% of their income towards rent that may need to be adjusted to pay only 40% of their income for the next two months due to unexpected medical bills)
- Financial assistance has ended but the participant needs emergency rental assistance during the 'post subsidy case management period'
- Participant has a need to adjust their current living situation to help them better stabilize or maintain their housing, for example moving to a new unit that is closer to their job or to shift to a shared housing opportunity, etc.

Case Management and Supportive Services

Housing-focused case management is the third component of RRH. The goals of RRH case management are to help participants quickly obtain and move-into permanent housing, support participants to stabilize and maintain their housing, and to connect them to community and mainstream services and supports, as well as to their natural support systems. All RRH programs shall provide participants with housing-focused case management that is tailored to identify the participant's strengths, address their housing barriers, and support housing stabilization with a focus on the participant's exit to permanent housing as quickly as possible. Services are voluntary and can be increased if more services are necessary to help a participant stabilize in housing. Programs shall have written policies and procedures that outline how staff will provide clientcentered case management and how they will be trained on RRH case management strategies and any other internal policies. All case management policies and expectations must be clearly communicated with participants. Program participants must connect with staff at least once per month (for case management, reassessment, planning, etc. This is separate from support services, which are not required for program participants). Staff will support crisis resolution through creative problem-solving conversations about a participant's situation, housing options and resources for support.

In addition to the above, all case management and supportive services shall be client-centered and voluntary. Supportive services shall be offered to participants but cannot be mandated. Under no circumstances should participation in services be a condition of occupancy. In other words, an RRH program may not terminate a participant solely for refusing to participate in supportive services. It is permissible, however, to require participation in basic case management with a primary goal of engagement, stability planning, and budgeting.

Housing and Service Plans

All program participants shall develop a Housing and Service Plan (or Housing Stability Plan) in collaboration with staff that is housing focused and participant driven with the goal of obtaining or maintaining housing stability. Housing and Service Plans shall identify the participants' strengths, needs, goals and actions to be taken by both the participant and staff. These specific goals will depend on the participant's unique barriers to housing stability. Plans shall track progress towards goals and be updated frequently as the participant progresses or identifies new barriers. Programs shall have policies that clearly state that Housing and Service Plans will begin immediately once client is enrolled in the program and shall address the distinct phases of RRH (see below) and be updated regularly. Before being housed this shall be reviewed and updated at least every 90 days. Once a client is housed, Housing and Service Plans shall be reviewed and updated regularly to assess progress (ideally every 30 days, but no less than every 90 days), and shall be documented and maintained in the client file. Housing and Service Plan components should include:

- List of short-term, actionable goals pertaining to housing, including moving into housing and maintaining housing
- Focus only on barriers related to obtaining/maintaining housing
- Outline roles and expectations of participant versus program staff, and timelines for each step
- Date of next re-assessment to identify barriers and plan adjust, as needed

Exit Planning

When it is determined that the client is near program completion, Housing and Service Plans shall begin to focus on exit planning. This will include ongoing work with staff and the participant until the participant is exited (from both rental assistance and case management). This shall include a plan for preventing a return to homelessness.

Programs shall have clearly defined policies and objective standards for when case management should be continued and/or ended.

Minimum Performance Benchmarks for Rapid Rehousing

Rapid Rehousing programs will be evaluated on HUD's System Performance Measures and reported on an annual basis to ensure they are operating efficiently. Upon completion of the System Performance Measures reporting process, CoC staff with guidance from the IVCCC Executive Board will lead evaluation efforts.

System Performance Measure: Successful exits to permanent housing.

This system performance measure focuses on how successful Rapid Rehousing projects are at helping people move towards permanent housing. This measure is looking for an increase in the percentage of people who exit to permanent housing destinations during reporting period.

PERMANENT SUPPORTIVE HOUSING

Permanent Supportive Housing (PSH) is community-based housing with indefinite leasing or rental assistance paired with intensive wraparound supportive services to help people with disabilities who are experiencing homelessness, especially chronic homelessness, achieve housing stability, live independently, and improve their overall quality of life.

Participant Eligibility

For CoC-funded Permanent Supportive Housing programs, participants must meet the following eligibility requirements:

- The individual or household must meet the definition of homeless in the CoC Program Interim Rule, under Category 1 or Category 4 of the HUD homelessness definition.
 - Category 1 participants may enter from a place not meant for human habitation, an emergency shelter or government/charity-funded motel (emergency voucher), a Safe Haven (as defined by HUD), or one of the above places but temporarily – for no more than 90 days– in an institution. o Participants who are homeless under Category 1 and are entering from transitional housing must have entered the transitional housing program from emergency shelter or a place not meant for human habitation. If the project is designated for persons experiencing chronic homelessness, the participant may only enter from the street or shelter.
- The individual or at least one member of the household must have a disability of long duration. See Appendix A for HUD's definition of "homeless individual with a disability". HUD accepts the following forms of documentation to verify one's disability status. HUD does not accept self-certification for documenting disability - the only acceptable forms of documentation are described below.
 - Written verification of the disability from a professional licensed by the state to diagnose and treat the disability and his or her certification that the disability is expected to be long-continuing or of indefinite duration and substantially impedes the individual's ability to live independently; or
 - $\circ~$ Written verification from the Social Security Administration; or $~\circ~$ The receipt of a disability check; or
 - Intake staff-recorded observation of a disability that, no later than 45 days of the application for assistance, is confirmed and accompanied by evidence in this; or
 - Other documentation approved by HUD.
- Projects that are dedicated chronically homeless projects must continue to serve people experiencing chronic homelessness exclusively.
- Program participants receiving Rapid Re-Housing assistance maintain their chronically homeless status for the purpose of eligibility for Permanent Supportive Housing (so long as they meet any other additional eligibility criteria for the program).

Permanent Supportive Housing programs that are funded through local, state, private, or other federally funded sources may use the above standards for CoC programs, or may establish their own standards regarding participant eligibility in alignment with funding source requirements. Programs that establish their own standards should ensure that they are targeting Permanent

Supportive Housing resources to households with severe service needs that require the high level of assistance provided, including individuals and families with disabilities and those who have experienced lengthy or repeated episodes of homelessness.

Prioritization

Prioritization follow the CoC Prioritization Policy (See Appendix B) as well as CES prioritization guidelines within the Coordinated Entry System Policies and Procedures. Permanent Supportive Housing program must receive referrals from CES for program enrollment.

Minimum Standards

The following standards apply specifically and in their entirety to CoC PSH. Other PSH programs are encouraged to accept and utilize these minimum standards, but have the flexibility to adapt these standards to align with their funding source requirements as desired and appropriate.

- There can be no predetermined length of stay for a PSH project.
- Participants in CoC PSH must enter into a lease (or sublease) agreement for an initial term of at least one year that is renewable and is terminable only for cause. Leases (or subleases) must be renewable for a minimum term of one month. Non-CoC-funded PSH programs are strongly encouraged to establish an initial lease term of one year to promote housing stability, but may operate with a shorter lease term if allowable under their funding requirements.
- Supportive services are voluntary, designed to meet the needs of the participants, focused on ensuring housing stability, and must be made available to the participants throughout the duration in housing. Declining to participate in services is not grounds for termination from the program. Providers are encouraged to utilize assertive outreach and engagement efforts with participants who are not willing to engage in case management or supportive services using best practices.
- Use a harm reduction approach to address issues of substance use, mental health, and other challenges if the person is not willing to abstain from certain behaviors.
- Projects must exercise judgment and examine all extenuating circumstances in determining when violations are serious enough to warrant termination so that a participant's assistance is terminated only in the most severe cases.
- Participant contributions to housing costs do not exceed established local rent reasonableness or maximum allowed by funding source.
- Households are expected to contribute 30% of the household's monthly-adjusted gross income to rent, if they have income. There is no minimum rent for households without income.

Minimum Performance Benchmarks

Permanent Supportive Housing programs will be evaluated on HUD's System Performance Measures and reported on an annual basis to ensure they are operating efficiently. Upon completion of the System Performance Measures reporting process, CoC staff with guidance from the IVCCC Executive Board will lead evaluation efforts.

System Performance Measure: Successful placement in or retention of permanent housing.

This system performance measure focuses on how successful Permanent Supportive Housing projects are at helping people move towards permanent housing. This measure is looking for an increase in the percentage of people who remain in a Permanent Supportive Housing project during the reporting period.

HUD DEFINITION OF HOMELESSNESS

The following are HUD's Homeless Definition Categories 24 CFR Part 578 CoC Program § 578.3 Definitions.

Category	Literally	Individual or family who lacks a fixed, regular, and adequate	
1	Homeless	 nighttime residence, meaning: 1. Has a primary nighttime residence that is a public or private place not meant for human habitation including a car, a park, abandoned building, bus or train station, airport, camping ground; or 2. Is living in a publicly or privately-operated shelter designated to provide temporary living arrangement (including congregate shelters, transitional housing, and hotels and motels paid for by charitable organizations or by federal, state or local government program for lowincome individuals); or 3. Is exiting an institution where he or she resided for 90 days or less and who resided in an emergency shelter or place not meant for human habitation immediately before entering that institution. 	
Category 2	Imminent Risk of Homelessness	 Individual or family who will imminently lose their primary nighttime residence, if: 1. Primary nighttime residence will be lost within 14 days of the date of application for homeless assistance; 2. No subsequent residence has been identified; and 3. The individual or family lacks the resources or support networks needed to obtain other permanent housing. 	
Category 3	Homeless under other Federal statutes	 Unaccompanied youth under 25 years of age, or families with children and youth, who do not otherwise qualify as homeless under this definition, but who: 1. Are defined as homeless under the other listed federal statutes (Runaway and Homeless Youth Act, Head Start Act, VAWA, Public Health Service Act, Food and Nutrition Act, Child Nutrition Act, McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act); 2. Have not had a lease, ownership interest, or occupancy agreement in permanent housing during the 60 days prior to the homeless assistance application; 3. Have experienced persistent instability as measured by two moves or more in the preceding 60 days; and 4. Can be expected to continue in such status for an extended period due to special needs or barriers. 	
Category 4	Fleeing/ Attempting to Flee Domestic Violence	 Any individual or family who: 1. Is fleeing, or is attempting to flee, domestic violence; 2. Has no other residence; and 3. Lacks the resources or support networks to obtain other permanent housing. 	

APPENDIX A: GLOSSARY OF TERMS

HUD DEFINITION OF CHRONICALLY HOMELESS

HUD Definition of Chronic Homeless Part 578 Continuum of Care Program 24 CFR 578.3, 578.4

Chronically homeless means:

- (1) A "homeless individual with a disability", as defined in section 401 (9) of the McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act (42 U.S.C. 11360 (9)), who:
 - i. Lives in a place not meant for human habitation, a safe haven, or in an emergency shelter; and
 - ii. Has been homeless and living as described in paragraph (1) (i) of this definition continuously for at least 12 months or on at least 4 separate occasions in the last 3 years where the combined occasions must total at least 12 months and each break in homelessness separating the occasions included at least 7 consecutive nights of not living as described in paragraph (1) (i). Stays in institutional care facilities for fewer than 90 days will not constitute as a break in homelessness, but rather such stays are included in the 12-month total, as long as the individual was living or residing in a place not meant for human habitation, a safe haven, or an emergency shelter before entering the institutional care facility;
- (2) An individual who has been residing in an institutional care facility, including a jail, substance abuse or mental health treatment facility, hospital, or other similar facility, for fewer than 90 days and met all of the criteria in paragraph (1) of this definition, before entering that facility; or
- (3) A family with an adult head of household (or if there is no adult in the family whose composition has fluctuated while the head of household has been homeless.

HUD DEFINITION OF DISABILITY

- (1) A person shall be considered to have a disability if he or she has a disability that;
 - a. Is expected to be long-continuing or of indefinite duration;
 - b. Substantially impedes the individual's ability to live independently;
 - c. Could be improved by the provision of more suitable housing conditions; and
 - d. Is a physical, mental, or emotional impairment, including impairment caused by alcohol or drug abuse, posttraumatic stress disorder, or brain injury.
- (2) A person will also be considered to have a disability if he or she has a developmental disability, as defined in this section.
- (3) A person will also be considered to have a disability if he or she has acquired immunodeficiency syndrome, including infection with the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV).
- (4) Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this definition, the term person with disabilities includes, except in the case of the SRO component, two or more persons with disabilities living together, one or more such persons living with another person who is determined to be important to their care or well-being and the surviving member or members of any household described in the first sentence of this definition who were living, in a unit assisted

under this part, with the deceased member of the household at the time of his or her death. (In any event, with respect to the surviving member or members of a household, the right to rental assistance under this part will terminate at the end of the grant period under which the deceased member was a participant.)

SEVERITY OF SERVICE NEEDS

As defined in the HUD Community Planning and Development CPD 16-11 Bulletin Notice published July 25, 2016:

- (1) An individual for whom at least one of the following is true:
 - i. History of high utilization of crisis services, which include but are not limited to, emergency rooms, jails, and psychiatric facilities; and/or
 - ii. Significant health or behavioral health challenges, substance use disorders, or functional impairments which require a significant level of support in order to maintain permanent housing.
 - iii. For youth and victims of domestic violence, high risk of continued trauma or high risk of harm or exposure to very dangerous living situations.
 - iv. When applicable CoCs and recipients of CoC Program-funded PSH may use an alternate criteria used by Medicaid departments to identify high need, high cost beneficiaries.

(2) Severe service needs as defined in paragraphs i-iv above should be identified and verified through data-driven methods such as an administrative data match or through the use of a standardized assessment tool and process and should be documented in a program participant's case file. The determination must not be based on a specific diagnosis or disability type, but only on the severity of needs of the individual. The determination cannot be made based on any factors that would result in a violation of any nondiscrimination and equal opportunity requirements, see 24 CFR § 5.105(a).

APPENDIX B: IMPERIAL COUNTY COC PRIORITIZATION POLICY

IVCCC's order of priority for homeless housing beds are prioritized as follows and are based on the following vulnerability factors and assessment information:

- Length of time homeless, and
- Severity of service needs

Veterans are the highest priority within each of the categories below.

1 st Priority	Chronically Homeless Individuals, Youth and Families with the Longest
	Histories of Homelessness and the Most Severe Service Needs
-	
2 nd Priority	Chronically Homeless Individuals, Youth and Families with the Longest
	Histories of Homelessness
3 rd Priority	Chronically Homeless Individuals, Youth and Families with the Most
	Severe Service Needs
Ath Dui quiter	All Others New Observicelly, Llesseless Individuals, Verith and Femilies
4 th Priority	All Other: Non-Chronically Homeless Individuals, Youth and Families

APPENDIX D: EMERGENCY TRANSFER PLAN FOR VICTIMS OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

APPENDIX C: RECORDKEEPING AND DOCUMENTATION REQUIREMENTS

As defined by HUD, below is the criteria for recordkeeping requirements for people experiencing homelessness.

Category 1	Literally Homeless	 Written observation by the outreach worker; or Written referral by another housing or service provider; or Certification by the individual or head of household seeking assistance stating that they were living on the streets or in shelter; For individuals exiting an institution – one of the forms of evidence above and: Discharge paperwork or writer/oral referral; or Written record of intake worker's due diligence to obtain above evidence and certification by individual that they exited institution.
Category 2	Imminent Risk of Homelessness	 A court order resulting from an eviction action notifying the individual or family that they must leave; or For individuals and families leaving a hotel/motel – evidence that they lack the financial resources to stay; or A documented and verified oral statement; and Certification that no subsequent residence has been identified; and Self-certification or other written documentation that the individual lack the financial resources and support necessary to obtain permanent housing.
Category 3	Homeless under other Federal Statutes	 Certification by the nonprofit or state or local government that the individual or head of household seeking assistance met the criteria of homelessness under another federal statute; and Certification of no PH in last 60 days; and Certification by the individual or head of household, and any available supporting documentation, that the household has moved two or more times in the past 60 days; and Documentation of special needs or 2 or more barriers.

Category 4	Fleeing /Attempting to Flee DV	 For victim service providers: An oral statement by the individual or head of household seeking assistance which states: they are fleeing; they have no subsequent residence; and they lack resources. Statement must be documented by a self-certification or a certification by the intake worker.
		 For non-victim service providers: Oral statement by the individual or head of household seeking assistance that they are fleeing. This statement is documented by a self-certification or by the caseworker. Where the safety of the individual or family is not jeopardized, the oral statement must be verified; and Certification by the individual or head of household that no subsequent residence has been identified; and Self-certification or other written documentation, that the individual or family lacks the financial resources and support networks to obtain other permanent housing.

https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/HomelessDefinition_RecordkeepingRequirementsandCriteria.pdf

The IVCCC is concerned about the safety of participants, and such concern extends to participants who are victims of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking. In accordance with the Violence Against Women Act (VAWA),¹ housing providers within the CoC allows participants who are victims of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking to request an emergency transfer from the participant's current unit to another unit when there is a threat of imminent harm from further violence if the participant remains within the same unit.

This plan identifies participants who are eligible for an emergency transfer, the documentation needed to request an emergency transfer, confidentiality protections, how an emergency transfer may occur, and guidance to participants on safety and security. This plan is based on a model emergency transfer plan published by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD).

PURPOSE

Provide for the safety of participants facing imminent risk of harm.

POLICY STATEMENT

Promote the safety of participants in CoC-supported housing by establish policy and protocols for transferring housing relocation for participants who are at imminent risk of harm if they remain in their current housing unit.

Requests for emergency transfer are available regardless of sex, gender identity, or sexual orientation. The ability of provider to honor such request for tenants currently receiving assistance, however, may depend upon a preliminary determination that the tenant is or has been a victim of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking, and on whether provider has another dwelling unit that is available and is safe to offer the tenant for temporary or more permanent occupancy.

There are five parts to this emergency plan:

- Part 1: Eligibility for Emergency Transfers
- **Part 2:** Emergency Transfer Request Documentation
- Part 3: Confidentiality
- **Part 4:** Emergency Transfer Timing and Availability
- Part 5: Safety and Security of Program Participants

¹Despite the name of this law, VAWA protection is available to all victims of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, and stalking, regardless of sex, gender identity, or sexual orientation.

ELIGIBILITY FOR EMERGENCY TRANSFERS

- (1) As provided in HUD's regulations at 24 CFR part 5, subpart L, a program participant is eligible for an emergency transfer if one of the following applies:
 - The participant is a victim of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking;
 - The participant reasonably believes that there is a threat of imminent harm from further violence if the participant remains within the same unit.
 - If the participant is a victim of sexual assault, the participant may also be eligible to transfer if the sexual assault occurred on the premises within the 90-calendar-day period preceding a request for an emergency transfer.
- (2) A participant requesting an emergency transfer must expressly request the transfer in accordance with the procedures described in this plan.
- (3) Participants who are not in good standing may still request an emergency transfer if they meet the eligibility requirements in this section.

EMERGENCY TRANSFER REQUEST DOCUMENTATION

To request an emergency transfer, the participant shall notify the Housing Provider's management office and submit a written request for a transfer to that office. The Housing Provider will provide reasonable accommodations to this policy for individuals with disabilities. The participant's written request for an emergency transfer should include either:

- 1. A statement expressing that the participant reasonably believes that there is a threat of imminent harm from further violence if the participant were to remain in the same dwelling unit assisted under Housing Provider's program; OR
- 2. A statement that the participant was a sexual assault victim and that the sexual assault occurred on the premises during the 90-calendar-day period preceding the participant's request for an emergency transfer.

CONFIDENTIALITY

The Housing Provider will keep confidential any information that the participant submits in requesting an emergency transfer, and information about the emergency transfer, unless the participant gives the Housing Provider written permission to release the information on a time limited basis, or disclosure of the information is required by law or required for use in an eviction proceeding or hearing regarding termination of assistance from the covered program. This includes keeping confidential the new location of the dwelling unit of the participant, if one is provided, from the person(s) that committed an act(s) of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking against the participant. See the Notice of Occupancy Rights under the Violence against Women Act for All Tenants for more information about the Housing Provider's responsibility to maintain the confidentiality of information related to incidents of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking use assault, or stalking.

EMERGENCY TRANSFER TIMING AND AVAILABILITY

While the Housing Provider cannot guarantee that a transfer request will be approved or how long it will take to process a transfer request; the Housing Provider will act as quickly as possible to move a participant who is a victim to another unit, subject to availability and safety of a unit.

If a participant reasonably believes a proposed transfer would not be safe, the participant may request a transfer to a different unit. If a unit is available, the transferred participant must agree to abide by the terms and conditions that govern occupancy in the unit to which the participant has been transferred. The Housing Provider may be unable to transfer a participant to a particular unit if the participant has not or cannot establish eligibility for that unit.

If the Housing Provider has no safe and available units for which a participant who needs an emergency is eligible, the Housing Provider will assist the participant in identifying other housing providers who may have safe and available units to which the participant could move. At the participant's request, the Housing Provider will also assist participants in contacting the local organizations offering assistance to victims of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking that are attached to this plan.

SAFETY AND SECURITY OF PARTICIPANTS

- (1) Pending processing of the transfer and the actual transfer, if it is approved and occurs, the participant is urged to take all reasonable precautions to be safe.
- (2) Participants who are or have been victims of domestic violence are encouraged to contact the National Domestic Violence Hotline at 1-800-799-7233, or a local domestic violence shelter, for assistance in creating a safety plan. For persons with hearing impairments, that hotline can be accessed by calling 1-800-787-3224 (TTY).
- (3) Participants who have been victims of sexual assault may call the Rape, Abuse & Incest National Network's National Sexual Assault Hotline at 800-656-4673, or visit the online hotline at https://hotline.rainn.org/online.
- (4) Participants who are or have been victims of stalking seeking help may visit the National Center for Victims of Crime's Stalking Resource Center at <u>https://www.victimsofcrime.org/our-programs/stalking-resource-center</u>.

APPENDIX E: Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG) Violence Against Women Act Compliance Policy

I. Introduction

The Emergency Solutions (ESG) Program is a federal program operated by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) to make grants to states, local governments, and territories for the purposes of funding activities that directly serve people experiencing homelessness, including people at risk of homelessness. The California Department of Housing and Community Development (CA HCD) is a direct recipient of ESG from HUD. CA HCD administers an annual allocation of ESG and an additional one-time allocation of ESG made available under the CARES Act.

For the purposes of this document, "annual ESG" refers to CA HCD's annual allocation of ESG, "ESG-CV" refers to CA HCD's one-time allocation of CARES Act ESG, and "ESG" refers to the program in general and to aspects of the program that apply to both annual ESG and ESG-CV.

This ESG VAWA Compliance Policy (the "Policy") provides the structure under which ESGfunded activities are required to comply with certain requirements of the Violence Against Women Act (VAWA).

A. Applicability

This Manual applies to ESG grants funded using:

- Annual ESG
- ESG-CV

II. Definitions

A. Domestic Violence

For the purposes of this Policy and the ESG Program, the definition of domestic violence includes dating violence, sexual assault, stalking, and human trafficking. The definition is also considered to include any additional nuances as defined by HUD; for example, there may be additional circumstances that are considered domestic violence for youth aged 24 and under. For more information, please refer to the relevant external document published by HUD.

B. Covered Housing Providers

Some of the provisions of this Policy refer to Covered Housing Providers (CHPs). A CHP is any entity that meets any of the following criteria:²

- A recipient or subrecipient that administers rental assistance (for the purposes of the Emergency Transfer Plan procedure
- A housing owner with respect to the limitations of VAWA protections enumerated in 24 CFR 5.2005(d)
- The housing owner and the entity administering rental assistance (recipient, subrecipient, or sub-subrecipient) for the purposes of 24 CFR 5.2005 (d)(2), which clarifies the circumstances under which a victim of domestic violence may or may not be evicted or have their ESG assistance terminated

² 24 CFR § 576.409(b)

APPENDIX E: Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG) Violence Against Women Act Compliance Policy

□ The housing owner and the entity administering rental assistance (recipient, subrecipient, or sub-subrecipient) for the purposes of 24 CFR 5.2007, which defines procedures for documenting the occurrence of domestic violence ○ Note: recipients and subrecipients may limit these requests in accordance with 24 CFR 576.409(b)(4)

III. General Requirements

A. Overview The ESG Program's primary regulatory body is 24 CFR Part 576, the ESG Program Interim Rule.²³ The ESG Program Interim Rule provides various protections for victims of domestic violence (which includes domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, stalking, and human trafficking).⁴ These protections and their associated requirements are enumerated in this section of the Policy.

B. HMIS Comparable Databases

Domestic violence service providers (VSPs) are prohibited from maintaining participant data in the CoC's HMIS; instead, they are required to maintain participant data in an HMIS comparable database.

For the purposes of ESG, HUD defines a VSP as "a private nonprofit organization whose primary mission is to provide direct services to victims of domestic violence."⁴

CA HCD is required to affirmatively record that VSPs receiving ESG are maintaining participant records in an HMIS comparable database. VSPs are encouraged to connect with other VSPs and with the California Partnership to End Domestic Violence for more information about HMIS comparable databases. There is also information about HMIS comparable databases available from SafeHousingPartnerships.org address: internet website https://safehousingpartnerships.org/sites/default/files/2017-08/CD101 CSNNEDV.pdf

Please review the table below to determine whether a given project is required to maintain participant data in HMIS or an HMIS comparable database.

	Organization is a VSP	Organization is <u>not</u> a VSP
Project serves victims of domestic violence	HMIS comparable database	HMIS
Project does not serve victims of domestic violence	HMIS comparable database	HMIS

² https://www.hudexchange.info/resource/1927/hearth-esg-program-and-consolidated-plan-conformingamendments/

³ CFR §576.409

⁴ https://www.hudexchange.info/faqs/programs/continuum-of-care-coc-program/programrequirements/coordinatedentry/how-does-hud-define-victim-serviceprovider/#:~:text=HUD%20defines%20a%20victim%20service,to%20victims%20of%20domestic%20violence C. Prohibition on Denial or Termination of Assistance or Eviction on the Sole Basis of Domestic Violence-Housing

An ESG applicant or participant cannot be denied assistance, have their assistance terminated, or be evicted from their housing solely because they are a victim of domestic violence.

D. Prohibition on Denial of Admission or Removal on the Basis or as a Result of Domestic Violence-Emergency Shelter

An ESG applicant or participant cannot be denied admission to or removed from an emergency shelter on the basis or as a direct result of the fact that the applicant/participant is or has been a victim of domestic violence if they would otherwise qualify for admission or occupancy.

E. Notice of Occupancy Rights under the Violence Against Women Act and Certification Form

Each entity that determines eligibility for or administers ESG rental assistance is responsible for providing the following two forms to each applicant for ESG rental assistance and each participant receiving ESG rental assistance:

"Notice of Occupancy Rights under the Violence Against Women Act" (Form HUD-5380), available at the following internet web address: <u>https://www.hud.gov/sites/documents/5380.DOCX</u>

F. Bifurcation

When a family receiving tenant-based rental assistance separates under the lease bifurcation clause of 24 CFR 5.2009(a), the family's tenant based rental assistance and utility assistance, if any, shall continue for the family member(s) who are not evicted or removed.

If a family living in a unit receiving project–based rental assistance and utility assistance, if any shall continue for the family member(s) who are not evicted or removed.

If a family living in a unit receiving project-based rental assistance separates under the lease bifurcation clause of 24 CFR 5.2009(a), the family member(s) who are not evicted or removed can remain in the assisted unit without interruption to the rental assistance or utility assistance provided for the unit.

G. VAWA Lease Language

Subrecipients are required to ensure that the requirements listed under 24 CFR Part 5, Subpart L, are included or incorporated into all rental assistance agreements and leases for units that receive ESG-funded short-term or medium-term rental assistance. If a landlord-provided lease includes all protections listed in 24 CFR Part 5, Subpart L, subrecipients do not need to take any further action. Under most circumstances, however, subrecipients will need to provide and require a lease amendment including the necessary language. Subrecipients may choose between two options for VAWA lease amendments:

APPENDIX E: Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG) Violence Against Women Act Compliance Policy

- Subrecipients may use the sample "Lease Addendum" (HUD-90167), provided at the following internet web address: https://www.hud.gov/sites/documents/91067.doc
- Subrecipients may create their own lease addendum, which must incorporate all protections listed in 24 CFR Part 5, Subpart L

Subrecipients should define their approach to ensuring VAWA protections are included in all rental assistance agreements and leases in their project policies and procedures.

H. Emergency Transfer Plan

Each subrecipient that administers ESG assistance is required to develop and implement an Emergency Transfer Plan (ETP). An ETP provides the subrecipient and other CHPs in the subrecipient's funding stream with a process that enables participants who are victims of domestic violence to transfer from their existing unit to another safe unit without losing their ESG assistance.

Participants who are victims of domestic violence qualify for an emergency transfer under an ETP if:

- They expressly request the transfer; and,
 Either of the following is true:
 - They believe there is a threat of imminent harm from further violence if they remain within their existing unit; or,
 - Only if they are a victim of sexual assault: if the sexual assault occurred on the premises of their existing unit within the 90-calendar-day period preceding the participant's transfer request ETPs must:
- Meet all requirements for ETPs listed in 24 CFR 5.2005(e)
- Be modeled on HUD's "Model Emergency Transfer Plan for Victims of Domestic Violence," available at the following internet web address: https://www.hud.gov/sites/documents/5381.docx

In addition to the requirements above, subrecipients are encouraged to create ETPs that are integrated with the CoC's coordinated entry process and that do not contract and are substantially similar to the CoC's ETP for CoC Program projects.

As part of the ETP creation process, subrecipients are also encouraged to consult with the CoC's permanent housing providers, including those funded by the CoC and SSVF Programs, and with the CoC's victim services providers to ensure ETP provisions are correctly tailored to permanent housing availability and to the specific needs of victims of domestic violence.

APPENDIX F: EDUCATIONAL ASSURANCES PLAN

Purpose:

The purpose of this document is to outline the intent of the IVCCC to meet the educational needs of the homeless youth and families that they serve. The CoC believes that success in education can lead to positive outcomes and the avoidance of negative behaviors such as drug and/or alcohol abuse or other high-risk behaviors. Success in school enhances social growth and has positive physical, emotional and mental outcomes.

The IVCCC is committed to ensuring that the educational needs of homeless youth and their families are met.

Pursuant to McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act a homeless child is defined as a child who does not have a fixed, regular, and adequate nighttime residence or whose primary nighttime location is in a public or private shelter designated to provide temporary living accommodations, or a place not designed for, or ordinarily used as regular sleeping accommodations for human beings. This definition includes a child who is:

- Sharing the housing of other persons due to loss of housing, economic hardship or similar reason (sometimes referred to as double-up);
- Living in motels, hotels, trailer parks, or camping grounds due to the lack of alternative adequate accommodations;
- Living in a car, park, public space, abandoned building, substandard housing, bus or train stations or similar settings;
- Abandoned in hospitals;
- A migratory child who qualifies as homeless because he or she is living in circumstances described above;
- An unaccompanied youth is a homeless child not in the physical custody of a parent or guardian who is in a living situation described above.

CoC Responsibilities

The CoC will collaborate with local education agencies (schools districts) to:

- · Assist in the identification of homeless families;
- Inform homeless families and youth of their eligibility for McKinney-Vento education services;
- Encourage programs within the CoC to develop procedures to meet the educational needs of children when families are placed in emergency or transitional shelter;
- Encourage programs to place families with children as close as possible to their school of origin, as appropriate, so as not to disrupt the children's education;

Program Responsibilities

Programs within the CoC that serve children/youth will be encouraged to adopt the following practices for serving homeless students. Programs should:

• Educate all relevant staff on the rights of students experiencing homelessness as outlined in McKinney-Vento legislation.

APPENDIX G: Duplication of Benefits (DOB) Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG) Policy

- Annually provide information to school principals, counselors, and McKinney-Vento liaisons about services the agency provides.
- Connect regularly with McKinney-Vento liaisons in surrounding school districts.

APPENDIX F: EDUCATIONAL ASSURANCES PLAN

- Develop policies and practices that are consistent with, and do not restrict the exercise of rights provided by the education subtitle of the McKinney-Vento Act, and other laws relating to the provision of educational and related services to individuals and families experiencing homelessness.
- Designate a staff person to ensure that children are enrolled in school and connected to the appropriate services within the community, including early childhood programs such as Head Start, Part C of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, and McKinneyVento education services.
- Encourage parental involvement and educate parents on the importance of involvement in their children's education, including: Ocnnecting parents with the local school liaison.
 - \circ Informing parents on homeless children's rights \circ Communication
 - and partnership with schools
 - Providing proper nutrition
- Offer after-school programs on site or make referrals to other programs.
- Highly encourage school attendance and will work with households to address any barriers to regular school attendance.
- Maintain documentation in the participant's case file to demonstrate that these requirements have been met and that applicants and participants understand their rights.

Imperial Valley Continuum of Care Council (IVCCC) referred to as Continuum of Care (CoC) receives Emergency Solutions Grant Coronavirus (ESG-CV) funds allocated under the 2020 CARES Act and governed by CPD Notice 21-08 and 24 CFR § 576.

All California ESG-CV subrecipients are required to complete a Duplication of Benefits (DOB) analysis for assisted activities to demonstrate that no duplication of benefits occurred as defined by the State of California's ESG-CV Duplication of Benefits Policy.

To comply with this requirement, the IVCCC, and its service providers will demonstrate that the amount of funds allocated to each activity do not exceed the total need for that activity and no service provider or program participant received duplicative assistance. To document this, the CoC shall maintain records of compliance with mandatory duplication of benefits requirements described in CPD Notice 21-08.

All service providers and other entities receiving ESG-CV assistance are responsible for complying with the requirements set forth in these policies and procedures, the State of California's ESG-CV Duplication of Benefits Policy and CPD Notice 21-08.

Responsibilities

CoC

As the subrecipient of ESG-CV funds, the CoC is responsible for evaluating each subaward made to service providers or local units of government to ensure that a duplication of benefits does not exist for the entity receiving that award.

If the CoC is carrying out activities directly, it is responsible for evaluating these activities to ensure that a duplication of benefits does not exist for the overall activity being carried out.

The CoC is also responsible for monitoring to ensure that activities carried out by service providers do not result in a duplication of benefits for the program participant in instances when the program participant is receiving financial assistance for housing relocation and stabilization services (24 CFR 576.105(a) as amended by CPD Notice 21-08 and any other activities that the CoC determines may result in a potential duplication at the program participant level.

The CoC is responsible for ensuring that any person or entity receiving ESG-CV assistance agrees to repay assistance that is determined to be duplicative. In instances where financial assistance is made on behalf of a program participant (e.g., making rental payments) and a payment is determined to be duplicative, the CoC (or its provider) must collect the duplicated payment from the actual recipient of the payment (e.g., the landlord) and cannot collect the duplicated payment from the program participant without prior written authorization from the State.

As requested by the State, the CoC will provide a summary of the duplication of benefits analysis at the activity and program participant level.

APPENDIX G: Duplication of Benefits (DOB) Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG) Policy

Service Provider

The service provider, or entity carrying out ESG-CV activities, is responsible for evaluating that housing relocation and stabilization services financial assistance (24 CFR 576.105(a) as amended by CPD Notice 21-08) and any other activities that the CoC determines may result in a potential program participant duplication of benefits do not result in such a duplication. The service provider, as part of the evaluation and corresponding re-evaluations of program participant eligibility, shall require a certification to be completed by each program participant as a condition for receiving ESG-CV assistance. The service provider is responsible for assessing each application to determine if any ESG-CV assistance will or is likely to duplicate financial assistance that has already been received or is likely to be received by the program participant. If it is determined that a landlord or property manager received a duplicative payment on behalf of a program participant, the service provider is responsible for recapturing the duplication of benefit from the landlord or property manager.

Duplication of Benefits (DOB) Analysis

Duplication of Benefits Analysis Steps – Activity Level

- 1. Assess Need for the Activity:
 - Determine the total amount of need for the activity (e.g., Emergency Shelter, Temporary Emergency Shelter, Street Outreach, Rapid Re-housing, Homelessness Prevention, HMIS, Administration).
 - Need can be assessed for the entire jurisdiction or for each project
- 2. Determine Assistance:
 - Determine the amount of funding that has or will be provided from all non-ESG-CV funding sources to pay for the activity cost(s).
- 3. Calculate Maximum Level of Award:
 - Compare the amount of assistance (Step 2) to the total need (Step 1) to determine the maximum possible ESG-CV award.
- 4. Document DOB analysis:
 - Document steps 1-3 and ESG-CV award amount to verify that the amount of ESGCV award is equal to or lower than the maximum level of award.

Duplication of Benefits Analysis Steps – Housing Relocation and Stabilization Services (program participant) Level

1. Assess Need:

- Determine the total amount of financial assistance needed by the program participant (for the cost types that will be paid in full or in part with ESG-CV funds).
- 2. Determine Assistance:
 - Determine the amount of funding that has or will be provided from all non-ESG-CV funding sources to pay for the cost(s).
- 3. Calculate Maximum Level of Award:
 - Compare the amount of assistance (Step 2) to the total need (Step 1) to determine the maximum possible ESG-CV award.

- 4. Document DOB analysis:
 - Document steps 1-3 and ESG-CV award amount to verify that the amount of ESG-CV award is equal to or lower than the maximum level of award.

Recordkeeping

All activity and program participant information, including the intake checklist, shall be retained in compliance with HUD's record retention requirements.

The Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG) Program is a federal program operated by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) to make grants available to states, local governments, and territories for the purposes of funding activities that directly serve people experiencing homelessness, including people at risk of homelessness. The IVCCC is a subrecipient of the California Department of Housing and Community Development (CA HCD). CA HCD is a direct recipient of ESG from HUD. CA HCD administers an annual allocation of ESG and additional allocation(s) of ESG made available under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act.

APPENDIX G: Duplication of Benefits (DOB) Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG) Policy

For the purposes of this document, "annual ESG" refers to CA HCD's annual allocation of ESG, "ESG-CV" refers to CA HCD's allocation(s) of CARES Act ESG, and "ESG" refers to the program in general and to aspects of the program that apply to both annual ESG and ESG-CV. This ESG Personally Identifying Information Policy (the "Policy") provides comprehensive guidance for ESG projects.

- Annual ESG
- ESG-CV

Requirements

The ESG Program's primary regulatory body is 24 CFR Part 576, the ESG Program Interim Rule.⁶ The ESG Program Interim Rule requires that recipients (e.g. CA HCD) and subrecipients (including 'sub-subrecipients) ensure the following:⁷

- All records containing personally identifying information [PII] [...] of any individual or family who applies for and/or receives ESG assistance will be kept secure and confidential;
- The address or location of any domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking shelter project assisted under ESG will not be made public except with written authorization of the person responsible for the operation of the shelter;
- The address or location of any housing of a program participant will not be made public, except as provided under a preexisting privacy policy of the recipient or subrecipient and consistent with state and local laws regarding privacy and obligations of confidentiality.

This requirement's functional impact is recipients and subrecipients must develop confidentiality policies and procedures in writing to keep confidential every ESG applicant's or participant's personally identifiable information (PII) they receive for any reason, including participant housing locations/addresses, as well as the locations/addresses of any domestic violence shelters.

IVCCC's ESG subrecipients must agree to adopt these PII policies and procedures in their entirety to receive ESG funding.

⁶ <u>https://www.hudexchange.info/resource/1927/hearth-esg-program-and-consolidated-planconforming-amendments/</u> ⁷ 24 CFR 576.500(x)

APPENDIX H: Personally Identifying Information (PII) ESG Policy

Defining and Identifying Personally Identifying Information (PII)

PII is defined by OMB M-07-116, Memorandum for the Heads of Executive Departments and Agencies, as follows:

"Information which can be used to distinguish or trace an individual's identity, such as their name, social security number, biometric records, etc. alone, or when combined with other personal or identifying information which is linked or linkable to a specific individual."

PII is sometimes also called "personally identifiable information," "personal protected information" or PPI, and other similar terms and acronyms.

Considered PII with information only	Considered PII when combined with other information
Name	Date and Place of Birth
Social Security Numbers	Race or Ethnicity
Driver License/ Identification Number	Religion
Patient ID Number	Geographical Indicators
Addresses	Financial Information
Personal Telephone numbers	
Biometric Data	

Some examples of PII include:

Further, sensitive personally identifying information (SPII) is defined in HUD's April 2015 "Protecting PII: Capacity Building Guidance on Protecting Privacy Information" as follows:

"PII that when lost, compromised or disclosed could substantially harm an individual."

Some examples of SPII include social security numbers, medical records, credit/debit/bank account information, immigration status, criminal records, medical information, and any information that could be used to locate a person fleeing domestic violence.

There is no comprehensive list of every piece of information that is PII or SPII. Instead, recipients, subrecipients, sub-subrecipients and their respective subcontractors must assess each participant record to determine whether it contains information that, either alone or when combined with other information in the record, constitutes PII or SPII. Sub-subrecipients (local homelessness response system service providers) are responsible for ensuring that their subcontractors abide by these PII policies and procedures.

Confidentiality protections in this policy do not extend to employees whose salary is paid for by ESG. Staff information, including names and salaries, is commonly shared between recipients and subrecipients, including during the grant application, contracting, and reimbursement request processes.

Locating Personally Identifying Information

PII can be found in any record containing participant information, and those records can in theory be found, stored, or accidentally left in any physical or digital location. For the purposes of the ESG program, PII is most often located in one of the following places:

- In HMIS;
- In a physical participant file;
- On a computer or other digital media (e.g. thumb drives, external hard drives);
- In long-term physical storage.

However, PII is PII no matter where it is located, how you store it, or how well you secure it. Recipients and subrecipients must assess each ESG program record they generate or receive to determine whether they contain PII.

For service providers, the most common PII collection points are:

- Upon first contact with a participant
- At project in take
- At lease-up
- During the case management process(e.g. case notes)
- At lease renewal and recertification
- At project exit

Protecting Personally Identifying Information

IVCCC has adopted the following principles to protect PII of all people served:

- 1. Limit Collection
 - ✓ Do not collect PII unless you need it to meet a requirement.
 - ✓ When you collect PII, only collect the information you need.
 - ✓ Make sure you are authorized to collect the PII you are collecting. Authorization can come either from an internal authority (e.g. your supervisor), an external authority (e.g. a statute or regulation, written standards), or your organizational obligations (e.g. contracts, non-disclosure and confidentiality agreements).
- 2. Manage Access
 - ✓ Never discuss or release PII without authorization.
 - ✓ Before discussing PII over the telephone or a video call, confirm that you are speaking to the right person and inform them that the conversation will include PII.
 - ✓ Avoid discussing PII if there are people around who aren't authorized to hear it ✓ Hold meetings where PII might be discussed in secure spaces.
 - ✓ Treat meeting minutes and notes as confidential until and unless you can verify that they do not contain PII.
 - ✓ For meetings that do include PII: record their date, time, place, subject, chair, and attendees.
 - ✓ Do not leave PII in a voicemail.

APPENDIX H: Personally Identifying Information (PII) ESG Policy

- ✓ Do not text PII.
- ✓ Do not send PII via unencrypted email or between email servers that do not share security protocols.
- 3. Protecting Physical Files
 - ✓ Clearly label all files containing PII.
 - ✓ Store all files in lockable storage containers (e.g. lockable file cabinets). Lock them when not in use.
 - ✓ Do not leave PII in open areas unattended
 - ✓ Do not access records containing PII except in work areas that are secure.
 - ✓ Develop a centralized record of where PII is stored. Develop a policy that specifies when and how you will periodically check that the storage is secure and the record is correct.
 - ✓ Treat external digital media (e.g. thumb drives, external hard drives) the same as physical files.
- 4. Protecting Electronic Files
 - ✓ Develop a policy that specifies where files containing PII will be stored in your digital filing system. Include information regarding when and how you will periodically check that PII is being stored in accordance with the policy.
 - \checkmark Clearly distinguish between files that do and do not contain PII.
 - ✓ Consult with your organization's information technology experts to deploy appropriate security measures (e.g. file and digital media encryption, two-factor authentication, limiting which users can access files containing PII).
- 5. Additional File Protection Guidance
 - ✓ Do not remove PII from authorized facilities without approval from an appropriate party (preferably in writing).
 - ✓ Do not use interoffice or translucent envelopes to send PII within or between agency facilities; instead, use sealable (and sealed) envelopes marked to the recipient's attention.
 - ✓ Double-wrap any envelopes sent via the United States Postal Service (USPS) or equivalent service and mark them as confidential to the recipient's attention.
 - ✓ Require a signature from the recipient when sending PII via courier or equivalent service.
- 6. Electronic Transmissions of PII
 - ✓ When faxing PII: use date stamps, confirm the recipient's fax number, confirm the recipient is available to receive the fax, and confirm that they receive the fax. Also, ensure that your fax machine does not store a record of the transmission that renders PII retrievable, shred your physical copy of the transmission once you have confirmed it arrived, and, whenever possible, and use a fax machine with a secure transmission line.
 - ✓ When emailing PII: confirm the recipient's email address, confirm receipt of the email, and whenever possible, send PII exclusively between two secure

(encrypted) email servers. (Consult with your organization's information technology experts if you are not sure.)

- ✓ If you must send PII to an unencrypted email server, ensure that the PII is contained within an encrypted file attached to the email.
- ✓ Do not store PII on shared drives, calendars, your intranet, or any unsecured or publicly accessible location on the internet.
- 7. Record Management, Retention and Disposal
 - ✓ Do not maintain records for longer than required (by statute, regulation, or contract) unless there is a compelling reason to do so and unless the extended period of retention is approved by the appropriate person within your agency. (For the record retention period for ESG participant information, refer to 24 CFR 576.500(x-z).)
 - ✓ Once you have determined that a record can be disposed of, destroy the record permanently. Physical records should be shredded. Electronic records should be permanently erased; for more information about how to permanently erase an electronic record, consult with your information technology experts.
- 8. Data Breach Response
 - ✓ A data breach means that PII has been viewed by, leaked to, or accessed by someone who was not authorized to view, access, or receive it.
 - ✓ Responses will depend on the nature or severity of the breach, but in general and at minimum should involve re-securing the information.
 - ✓ HUD requests that ESG recipients and subrecipients report any breaches or suspected breaches of SPII within the ESG program to HUD's National Help Desk at 1-888-297-8689.

Requirement for IVCCC Subrecipients

IVCCC subrecipients and subcontractors shall adopt, at a minimum, this PII Policy and Procedures as a baseline. Further, IVCCC subrecipients may develop their own PII policies and procedures as long it contains, at the very minimum, the requirements of the policy and does not conflict with this Policy.

HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION

Homelessness Prevention (HP) aids households in a permanent housing setting facing imminent housing loss to prevent them from moving to an emergency shelter, a place not meant for human habitation, or another location described in paragraph (1) of HUD's homeless definition in 24 CFR 576. Homelessness prevention services include housing-focused case management, housing relocation or stabilization services and/or short-and/or medium-term rental assistance as necessary to prevent the household from becoming homeless.

The ESG Homelessness Prevention sub-sub recipients must comply with the following requirements and procedures as outlined in this document to ensure compliance with the ESG Homelessness Prevention program. It provides a detailed description of the steps that will be taken to determine eligibility, calculate financial assistance, recertify for eligibility, provide support and terminate Homelessness Prevention assistance. The Imperial Valley Continuum of Care's Policies and Procedures for Homelessness Prevention do not replace the regulations contained in 24 CFR Part 576, and subsequent amendments, or any other applicable Federal, State and local laws, ordinances and regulations pertaining to the Homelessness Prevention program. Homelessness Prevention programs must always refer to the regulations and the grant agreement in determining what is allowable under 24 CFR Part 576.

Eligible Households

Homelessness Prevention assistance may be provided to households who meet the criteria below at program intake: (See Appendix A for definitions of homelessness and Appendix C for Recordkeeping and Documentation Requirements) for certifying a household's homelessness.

- HUD Category 2 Definition of Homeless (At Imminent Risk of Homelessness); OR
- HUD Category 4 Definition of Homeless (Fleeing/Attempting to Flee Domestic Violence); OR
- At Risk of Homelessness, as defined by HUD; AND
- Meet income criteria (household income is at or below 30% Area Median Income (AMI) for ESG), AND
- Must lack sufficient resources and support networks (e.g. family, friends, faith-based or other social networks) that would prevent them from experiencing literal homelessness, AND
- Households must be willing to participate in the program and meet the terms of a selfdeveloped Housing Plan.

Needs Assessment

When assessing a household's needs during the initial evaluation, it is important to determine which households will be able to avoid homelessness with limited assistance and which will need deeper levels support. Keep in mind the goal of housing stability case management is to help stabilize people once housed, by connecting them to services and supports if needed. It should focus on helping people navigate barriers that may stand in the way of securing and maintaining housing and should also strive to build a support system by connecting them with people and programs in the community.

APPENDIX I: ESG Policy – Homelessness Prevention (HP)

Homelessness Prevention Services are intended to prevent households who are housed from becoming homeless by helping them regain stability in their current housing or other permanent housing. If a household was first assisted under homelessness prevention and then became homeless, the program must exit the client from the Homelessness Prevention component and enter the household into the Rapid Rehousing component.

Ineligible Applicants

If a household is assessed and determined to be ineligible, the household must be notified they have been determined ineligible which also includes providing the household with appropriate referrals and documenting the assessment process and determination.

Eligible Activities

The following are eligible activities for Homelessness Prevention:

- Rental assistance: Short-and/or medium-term rental assistance, rental arrears.
- Housing Relocation and Stabilization Services Financial assistance: rental application fees, security deposits, utility payments and deposits, last month's rent, moving costs;
- Housing Relocation and Stabilization Services Services: Housing search and placement, housing stability case management, mediation, legal services, and credit repair.

Each provider will determine the suite of services they will provide based on the needs of the community they serve, however at a minimum the following suite of services shall be included:

- Case management to stabilize housing
- Individualized and participant driven support in adherence with Housing First Principles to include screening and referrals to other agencies including public assistance agencies, health care providers, behavioral health services, education, training and employment services and drug and alcohol treatment programs
- Rental Assistance
- Financial Assistance to include rental security deposits, credit check fees, utility deposits and utility payments

Rental Assistance

Short-term rental – Short-term rental assistance is assistance for up to three (3) months of rent. Short-term rental assistance is provided to households with low to moderate barriers to securing and retaining permanent housing. These households require minimal service intervention and limited financial assistance to secure and stabilize in permanent housing.

Medium-term rental assistance – Medium-term rental assistance is assistance for more than three (3) months but not more than twenty-four (24) months of rent. Medium-term rental assistance is targeted towards families who experience moderate to high barriers to securing and retaining housing. These families have multiple barriers to housing that require longer periods of time to resolve and may require more intensive service interventions.

APPENDIX I: ESG Policy – Homelessness Prevention

Rental assistance payments may only be made to an owner with whom the program has entered into a rental assistance agreement and with whom the household holds a lease.

Homelessness Prevention funds may not be used to cover late fees for rental assistance.

Payment of rental arrears consists of a one-time payment for up to 6 months of rent in arrears, including any late fees on those arrears.

Note: Under no circumstances may financial assistance be paid directly to a household, even as a reimbursement for expenses undertaken by the household to secure housing.

Homelessness Prevention may provide households with up to 24 months of tenant-based or project-based rental assistance during any 3-year period. Assistance may include any combination of short-term rental assistance and medium-term rental assistance. Applicants can return for rental assistance if they have received less than 24 months of rent during any 3-year period on a case- by-case basis as a result of extenuating circumstances (e.g. illness, death, divorce). In addition, households may receive funds for security deposits in an amount not to exceed two (2) months of rent.

Households receiving rental assistance may move to another unit or building and continue to receive rental assistance, as long as they continue to meet the program requirements.

Except for a one-time payment of rental arrears on the tenant's portion of the rental payment, rental assistance cannot be provided to a participant who is receiving tenant-based rental assistance or living in a housing unit receiving project-based rental assistance or operating assistance through other public sources. Rental assistance may not be provided to a participant who has been provided with replacement housing payments under the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 1970, as amended ("the URA") during the period of time covered by the URA payments.

Households who have complied with all program requirements during their residence and who have been a victim of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking, and who reasonably believe they are imminently threatened by harm from further domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking (which would include threats from a third party, such as a friend or family member of the perpetrator of the violence), if they remain in the assisted unit, and are able to document the violence and basis for their belief, may retain the rental assistance and move to a different Continuum of Care geographic area if they move out of the assisted unit to protect their health and safety.

Housing Relocation and Stabilization Services: Financial Assistance

Homelessness Prevention assistance consists of two primary categories of support: Rental Assistance and Housing Relocation and Stabilization Services. This section will focus on *Housing Relocation and Stabilization Services: Financial Assistance.*

Homelessness Prevention funds may be used to pay housing owners, utility companies, and other third parties for one-time costs that help the participant secure housing. All payments must be made to a third party, such as a landlord or utility company.

Note: Under no circumstances may direct financial assistance be provided to a household, even as reimbursement for expenses undertaken by the participant to secure housing.

Eligible costs include the following:

- Rental application fees: The charge to apply for rental housing that is made by an owner to all applicants. This fee must be verified that this is a requirement of all applicants prior to making payment.
- Security deposits: A deposit to cover any damages to a unit rented by a household that is
 equal to not more than two months' rent. Note that landlords may not charge additional
 fees for service animals, beyond a standard fee or security deposit that applies to all
 participants who do not have pets; therefore Homelessness Prevention funds may not be
 used for this type of expense.
- Utility deposits: Homelessness Prevention funds may pay for a standard utility deposit for gas, electric, water, or sewage (the deposit must be standard and required of all customers).
- Utility payments: A partial or complete payment of a utility bill from a provider of gas, electric, water, or sewage. The head of household or a member of the household's name must be on the account or there is proof of responsibility to make the payment. Payments are limited to not more than twenty-four (24) months during any three-year period.
- Moving costs: Homelessness Prevention funds may pay for moving costs, such as truck rental or hiring a moving company. This assistance may include payment of temporary storage fees for up to three months, provided that the fees are accrued after the date the household begins receiving case management or other supportive services. Payment of temporary storage fees in arrears is not eligible.

Please note: All financial assistance administered counts towards the 24-month time limit.

Housing Relocation and Stabilization Services: Services

Homelessness Prevention funds may be used to provide specific supportive services to eligible households. These services may be provided with or without the provision of financial or rental assistance, for a maximum of 24 months.

The following services may be provided:

- *Housing Search and Placement:* Services or activities necessary to assist households in locating, obtaining, and retaining suitable permanent housing. These activities include:
 - Assessment of housing barriers, needs, and preferences;
 - o Development of an action plan for locating housing;
 - Housing search;
 - o Outreach to and negotiation with owners;
 - Assistance with submitting rental application and understanding leases;
 - Assessment of housing for compliance with ESG requirements for habitability, lead-based paint, and rent reasonableness/FMR;

APPENDIX I: ESG Policy – Homelessness Prevention

- o Assistance with obtaining utilities and making moving arrangements; and
- Participant counseling.
- *Housing Stability Case Management:* Assessing, arranging, coordinating, and monitoring the delivery of individualized services to facilitate housing stability for a household who resides in permanent housing, or to assist a program participant in overcoming immediate barriers to obtaining housing.

Whether paid for with Homelessness Prevention funds or not, housing stability case management should be provided as needed to support households to regain housing stability and link them to other services in the community.

At a minimum, a plan must be developed to assist the household to retain permanent housing after the Homelessness Prevention assistance ends, taking into account all relevant considerations, such as the household's current or expected income and expenses; other public or private assistance for which the household will be eligible and likely to receive; and the relative affordability of available housing in Imperial County.

Case management services are intended to be flexible and respond to the household's needs, while taking advantage of other services in the community as much as possible. During their enrollment in Homelessness Prevention, households must meet with a case manager not less than once per month to assist the household in ensuring long-term housing stability. Additional case management will be provided on a case-by-case basis based on demonstrated need. Case management activities to assess housing and service needs and arrange, coordinate and/or monitor the delivery of individualized services. Eligible activities include:

- Assessment and intake including using coordinated entry;
- Conducting initial evaluations including, verifying and documenting eligibility;
- Counseling;
- Developing/securing/coordinating services;
- Helping obtain Federal, State, and local benefits;
- Monitoring and evaluating program participant progress;
- Providing information and referrals to other providers; and
- Developing an individualized housing stabilization plan that leads to the attainment of stable permanent housing.

Homelessness Prevention funded programs must assist each household, as needed, to obtain other Federal, State, local, and private assistance available to assist the household in obtaining housing stability, including:

- o Medi-Cal
- o CalFresh
- Women, Infants and Children (WIC)
- o Unemployment Insurance Benefits Program

APPENDIX I: ESG Policy – Homelessness Prevention (HP)

- Social Security Disability Insurance (SSDI)
- Supplemental Security Income (SSI)
- Child and Adult Care Food Program
- Public housing programs
- o Housing programs receiving tenant-based or project-based assistance
- Supportive Housing for Persons with Disabilities
- o CalWORKs
- Mental Health and Substance Abuse
- o Services funded under the Workforce Investment Act
- *Mediation:* Mediation services between the household and the owner or person(s) with whom the household is living, provided that the mediation is necessary to prevent the household from losing permanent housing in which the household currently resides.
- *Credit Repair:* Credit counseling and other services necessary to assist households with critical skills related to household budgeting, managing money, accessing a free personal credit report, and resolving personal credit problems. The assistance does not include the payment or modification of a debt.
- Legal Services: Legal services related to landlord/tenant matters, and the services necessary to resolve a legal problem that prohibits the household from obtaining permanent housing or will likely result in the household losing the permanent housing in which the household currently resides. Homelessness Prevention funds may be used only for these services to the extent that other appropriate legal services are unavailable or inaccessible within the community.
 - Eligible subject matters are landlord/participant matters; child support; guardianship; paternity; emancipation; legal separation; orders of protection and other civil remedies for victims of domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, and stalking; appeal of veterans and public benefit claim denials; and the resolution of outstanding criminal warrants.
 - Eligible costs are the hourly fees for legal advice and representation by attorneys licensed and in good standing with the bar association of the state in which the services are provided, and by person(s) under the supervision of the licensed attorney, regarding matters that interfere with the household's ability to obtain and retain housing.

Fees based on the actual service performed (i.e. fee for service) are also eligible, but only if the cost would be less than the cost of hourly fees. Filing fees and other necessary court costs are also eligible. If the program is a legal service provider and performs the services itself, the eligible costs are the programs employees' salaries and other costs necessary to perform the services.

Component services or activities may include household intake, preparation of cases for trial, provision of legal advice, representation of hearings, and counseling.

APPENDIX I: ESG Policy – Homelessness Prevention

Ineligible costs: Legal services for immigration and citizenship matters and issues relating to mortgages, as well as retainer fee arrangements and contingency fee arrangements, are ineligible costs.

Prohibited Costs for Homelessness Prevention

Funds may not be used for:

- Capital costs Funds may not be used for major building rehabilitation, renovations or construction labor;
- Vehicle purchase, maintenance and repair;
- Personal food expenses;
- Payment of temporary storage fees in arrears
- Household debt modifications;
- Foreclosure or homeowner financial assistance; or
- Transitional housing.

Eligibility and Intake Requirements

Households seeking assistance may only be provided to those who will experience literal homelessness without Homelessness Prevention assistance.

Homelessness Prevention programs are expected to be engaged with the Imperial Valley Continuum of Care to the fullest extent possible, including participating in the local Coordinated Entry System (CES). The CES system creates a centralized or coordinated means for all households experiencing homelessness to access homeless assistance services and matches them with appropriate referrals to housing programs and services. The Coordinated Entry System utilizes the Place Value Assessment (PVA) tool. It accounts for length and frequency of homelessness, physical and mental health, veteran status, domestic violence experience, household status and housing barriers.

The Place Value Assessment (PVA) will be administered to households seeking services to determine if the household is at imminent risk of homelessness. The PVA provides a structure for a discussion that helps households identify options and potential diversion from the homeless services system. If the household does not meet homeless definitions, they should be referred for appropriate resources.

Diversion

The purpose of diversion is to help participants explore options that might be available and to ensure that

the homelessness services resources are used as the last option. Any time a household experiencing homelessness (Category 1, Category 2, or Category 4) meets with an Access Point, the staff shall attempt to divert the participant(s) from the homelessness services system. Staff will use open-ended conversation

with probing questions to help the participant identify their housing options and address barriers to realizing those options. Participants who are successfully diverted should not be referred to emergency shelter or placed on the Shelter waitlist. Participants should be engaged in diversion conversations anytime

there is contact between an Access Point and a participant seeking emergency shelter. There is no limit to

the number of times a participant can be diverted.

Household eligibility will need to be verified and documented to receive Homelessness Prevention assistance and maintained as part of a household's participant file. At a minimum, eligibility screening for all households should include:

- At Risk of Homelessness Status
- Assessment of Household's Support Networks and Resources (Evaluation to determine if they have support networks to enable the participant to obtain permanent housing with initial tenancy of at least 7 days including safe living situations with friends and family.)
- Annual Household Income (income documentation and evaluation)
- Duplication of Benefits

Homeless Status / At Risk of Homelessness Status -

Category	Criteria	Documentation Standards
Category 2 – Imminent Risk of Homelessness	 Individual or family who will imminently lose their primary nighttime residence, provided that: Residence will be lost within 14 days of the date of application for homeless assistance; No subsequent residence has been identified; and The individual or family lacks the resources or support networks needed to obtain other permanent housing. 	 One of the following: A court order resulting from an eviction action notify the individual or family that they must leave; or For individuals and families leaving a hotel/motel – evidence that they lack the financial resources to stay; or Certification that no subsequent residence has been identified; and Self-certification or other written documentation that the individual lack the financial resources and support necessary to obtain permanent housing.
Category 4 – Fleeing / Attempting to Flee DV	 Any individual or family who: Is fleeing, or is attempting to flee, domestic violence; Has no other residence; and Lacks the resources or support networks to 	 For victim service providers: An oral statement by the individual or head of household seeking assistance which states: they are fleeing; they have no subsequent residence; and they lack resources. Statement must be documented by a self-certification or a certification by the intake worker. For non-victim service providers:

APPENDIX I: ESG Policy – Homelessness Prevention

housing.	 Oral statement by the individual or head of household seeking assistance that they are fleeing. This statement is documented by a self-certification or by the caseworker. Where the safety of the individual or family is not jeopardized, the oral statement must be verified; and Certification by the individual or head of household that no subsequent residence has been identified; and Self-certification or other written documentation, that the individual or family lacks the financial resources and support networks to obtain other permanent housing.
----------	--

To be considered at risk of homelessness, a household must:

- (1) Have an annual income below 30% of the Area Median Income (AMI); AND
- (2) Does not have sufficient resources or support networks immediately available to prevent them from moving to an emergency shelter or a place not meant for human habitation; AND
- (3) Meets <u>one of the following conditions:</u>
 - a. Has moved because of economic reasons two or more times during the 60 days immediately preceding the application for assistance; OR
 - b. Is living in the home of another because of economic hardship; OR
 - c. Has been notified that their right to occupy their current housing or living situation will be terminated within 14 days after the date of application for assistance; OR
 - d. Lives in a hotel or motel and the cost is not paid for by charitable organization or by Federal, Sate, or local government programs for low-income individuals; OR
 - e. Lives in an SRO or efficiency apartment unit in which there resie more than two persons or lives in a larger housing unit in which there reside more than one and a half persons per room; OR
 - f. Is exiting a publicly funded institution or system of care; OR
 - g. Otherwise lives in housing that has characteristics associated with instability and an increased risk of homelessness.

The following documentation is sufficient for providing evidence of at-risk or imminent risk of homeless status:

• Written certification from intake worker that household is at risk of homelessness;

APPENDIX I: ESG Policy – Homelessness Prevention (HP)

- Written certification that household has an annual income below 30% of Area Median Income (AMI); and
- Certification by the household from the intake worker that the household does not have sufficient resources or support network to prevent them from becoming homeless.

Supporting Documentation in household records should include the following:

- Eviction notice or lease termination from household in need of homeless prevention assistance;
- Proof that household has an annual income below 30% of the AMI; and
- Proof that household does not have sufficient resources or support networks (such as family or friends) to prevent them from being homeless.

Annual Household Income - Income Eligibility Determination

In addition to documenting homelessness or at-risk status at intake, households served must have an income at or below 30% of the Area Median Income (AMI). This level of income is part of the definition of "at-risk" which qualifies most households for prevention services. If a participant qualifies under the "Imminent Risk of Homelessness" or "Fleeing/Attempting to Flee Domestic Violence", definition the income eligibility requirement must also be verified.

Eligibility redetermination must be conducted not less than once every six months. At that time, a case manager may decide to extend, decrease, or discontinue providing assistance. To continue to receive assistance, a household's re-evaluation must demonstrate eligibility based on:

- Lack of Resources and Support Networks. The household must continue to lack sufficient resources and support networks to retain housing without HP assistance; AND
- Income. In addition, re-evaluation must demonstrate that the household's annual income is less than or equal to 30 percent of the Area Median Income (AMI). Case managers may also require households to notify the case manager regarding changes in their income or other circumstances that affect their need for assistance (e.g. changes in household composition, stability, or support). When notified of any change, case managers must reevaluate eligibility and the amounts and types of assistance the household needs.

Income Definition and Documentation

Income is any money that goes to, or on behalf of, the head of household or spouse (even if temporarily absent) or to any other household member. Annual income includes the current (within 30 days) gross income of all adult household member (18 years of age or older) and income attributable to a minor (SSI/SSP, child support, etc.) The following types of income must be included for income calculation purposes as indicated in the chart:

APPENDIX I: ESG Policy – Homelessness Prevention

Countable Income

- Earned Income (Gross income before taxes and deductions)
- Self-Employment / Business Income (Net income earned, i.e. total revenue minus business operating expenses. This also includes any withdrawals of cash from the business or profession for personal use.
- Interest and Dividend Income
- Pension / Retirement Income (VA, SSA, annuities, pensions from a former job and other similar types of pension/retirement income)
- Armed Forces Income (Basic pay, special day and allowances excluding pay for exposure to hostile fire)
- Unemployment Benefits
- Disability Income (SSI/SSP, SSDI, private disability insurance, VA disability, State Disability Insurance)
- Workers Compensation
- Public Assistance / General Assistance income from government agencies excluding amounts designated for shelter, and utilities, WIC, food stamps and childcare.
- Alimony, Child Support and Foster Care payments received from organizations or persons not residing in the dwelling.
- Adoption Assistance Payments

Acceptable forms of income documentation include the most recent wage statement, unemployment compensation statement, public benefits statement, bank statement, third party statements (e.g. employer, government benefits administrator) or other written certification by the household of the amount of income that the household is reasonably expected to receive.

Timeliness of Income Documentation

Documentation that is dated within 30 days prior to the time of application is acceptable. However, a statement received any time within the twelve months prior to the time of application and reflecting current benefits received by a household is allowed.

Determining Area Median Income

Homelessness Prevention programs must ensure they are using the correct HUD Area Median Income thresholds prior to providing Homelessness Prevention assistance.

Income Calculation

Depending on pay periods used by the employer or the schedule of periodic payments, the following calculations convert the average wage into annual income:

- Hourly wage multiplied by Hours Worked per week multiplied by 52 weeks
- Weekly wage multiplied by 52 weeks
- Bi-Weekly (every other week) wages multiplied by 26 bi-weekly periods
- Semi-monthly wage (twice a month) multiplied by 24 semi-monthly periods

• Monthly wage multiplied by 12 months

Staff can calculate the household's annual income and eligibility using the HUD's Income Eligibility Calculator (<u>https://www.hudexchange.info/incomecalculator/</u>). If using HUD's calculator, print the summary of the determination and keep in the household's case file. . In order to use the Income Calculator, the user will need to set up a HUD exchange login.

Duplication of Benefits

"Duplication of benefits" occurs when financial assistance is provided to a person or entity to assist them in remaining in or returning to permanent housing, and they receive assistance from a different source for the same purpose, and the total amount of assistance they receive exceeds the total need for those costs.

To prevent a duplication of benefits, staff must evaluate a household seeking assistance if they have received or will receive financial assistance for housing costs through another source. Households must be asked if they have received prior assistance or if they have been approved for assistance at intake. Staff should also carefully evaluate financial statements or landlord account statements that might demonstrate the household has received a subsidy or financial assistance.

Order of Priority for Eligibility Determination

All important household eligibility documents should be clearly documented through household records and case manager notes. The order of priority for evidence establishing and verifying homeless status and income eligibility is as follows:

- 1. Third-party documentation (outside source such as service provider or agency)
 - Written Statement with relevant details on official letterhead or program template, must be signed and dated.
 - Oral Verification provided by the third party over the telephone or in-person directly to intake staff. Oral third-party verification is acceptable only if written third party verification cannot be obtained. Intake staff must document reasons why third party written verification could not be obtained in the case file. The intake worker must sign and date the verification statement as true.
- 2. Staff / Intake worker observation Homeless status only
- 3. Self-Certification An affidavit of homeless or income status as reported by the household is allowable but is only acceptable if written or verbal third party cannot be obtained. Intake staff must document reasons why third party written or oral verification could not be obtained in the case file. At a minimum, self-declaration documentation must include source, amount, frequency, head of household's signature and date.

Third party source documents are the preferred method of verifying and documenting housing status and income eligibility. However, lack of third party documentation must not prevent a household experiencing homelessness from obtaining services.

Recordkeeping Requirements

All records pertaining to each fiscal year funding must be retained for 5 years after the closeout of the grant. Copies made by microfilming, photocopying, or similar methods may be substituted for the original records.

Rental Assistance Requirements

Households seeking rental assistance through Homelessness Prevention must be currently residing in or moving into units that can meet certain compliance standards, including:

- Fair Market Rent limitation and rent reasonableness
- Leases and Rental Assistance Agreements
- Habitability Standards
- Lead-Based Paint Hazards
- Violence Against Women Act protections

Fair Market Rent and Rent Reasonableness

Whether a household is seeking to maintain its current housing or relocate to another unit to avoid homelessness (Homelessness Prevention), the process for determining acceptable rent amounts is the same:

- The program first compares the gross rent for the current or new unit with current Fair Market Rent (FMR) limits, which are updated annually
- If the unit's gross rent is at or below FMR, the program next uses current data to determine rent reasonableness.

If the gross rent is at or below both the FMR and the rent reasonableness standard for a unit of comparable size is met, funds may be used to pay the rent amount for the unit.

If the gross rent for the unit exceeds either the rent reasonableness standard or FMR, funds may not be used for any portion of the rent, even if the household is willing and/or able to pay the difference.

Rent Calculations

For purposes of calculating rent, the gross rent shall equal the sum of:

- The total monthly rent for the unit, and fees required for occupancy under the lease (excluding late fees and pet fees) and
- If the tenant pays separately for utilities, the monthly allowance for utilities established by the public housing authority for the area in which the housing is located. Utility costs may include gas, electric, water, sewer, and trash. Telephone, cable, or satellite television service, and internet costs are not including in utility calculations.

APPENDIX I: ESG Policy – Homelessness Prevention (HP)

Rent Reasonableness and FMR requirements do not apply when a household receives only financial assistance or services under HUD's Housing Stabilization and Relocation Services. This includes rental application fees, security deposits, an initial payment of "last month's rent," utility payments/deposits, and/or moving costs, housing search and placement, housing stability case management, landlord-tenant mediation, legal services, and credit repair.

Determining and Documenting Fair Market Rent

Staff must compare the unit's rent to the current FMR limits and should print and place in case files a copy of the applicable FMR data to document the FMR for that participants unit size.

Note: For ESG-CV – Waiver of Fair Market Rent Limits If a household is being assisted with ESG-CV funds, the unit does not need to meet Fair Market Rent standards. However, it does still need to meet rent reasonableness standards.

Determining and Documenting Rent Reasonableness

HUD's rent reasonableness standard is designed to ensure that rents being paid are reasonable in relation to rents being charged for similar units in the same market. Staff should determine rent reasonableness by considering the location, quality, size, type, and age of the unit, and any amenities, maintenance, and utilities to be provided by the owner. Comparable rents can be checked by using a market study of rents charged for units by reviewing advertisements for comparable rental units.

Staff must utilize the Rent Reasonableness Checklist and Certification form. This includes using the data sources to determine comparable rents and keeping a printout of three comparable units' rents/listings, and features (location, size, amenities, quality, etc.) in the case file. Another acceptable method of documentation is written verification signed by the property owner or management company, on letterhead, affirming that the rent for a unit assisted with funds is comparable to current rents charged for similar unassisted units managed by the same owner.

For units within the FMR limit, if a rent reasonableness determination supports a lower rent than the advertised rent, then funds may not be used to rent the unit unless the landlord is willing to lower the rent.

Rental Assistance Agreements

Rental assistance payments may only be made to an owner in the rental assistance agreement. The agreement must set forth the terms under which rental assistance will be provided, including the requirements that apply. The rental assistance agreement must provide that, during the time of the agreement, the owner must give the program a copy of any notice to the household to vacate the housing unit, or any complaint used under state or

APPENDIX I: ESG Policy – Homelessness Prevention

local law to commence an eviction action against the household.

It must at least include the following:

- A provision requiring the owner to give the program a copy of any notice to the household to vacate the housing unit, or any complaint used under state or local law to commence an eviction action against the household.
- The same payment due date, grace period, and late payment penalty requirements as the households lease
- For project-based rental assistance and tenant-based rental assistance, the term of the rental assistance agreement for the period they anticipate providing assistance.

The rental assistance agreement should also include provisions addressing the following:

- The type of rental assistance being provided (tenant-based or project-based)
- Program Participant Sharing in Rent: The program may require the household to pay a portion of the monthly rental cost. The rental assistance agreement should specify the amount of rent to be paid by the program and the amount to be paid by the household.
- Termination: When providing tenant-based rental assistance, the rental assistance agreement with the owner must terminate and no further rental assistance payments may be made under that agreement if: (1) the household moves out of the housing unit, (2) the lease terminates and is not renewed, or (3) the household becomes ineligible to receive Homelessness Prevention assistance.

Even when the assistance is solely for arrears, a rental assistance agreement is required, because rental arrears are considered rental assistance. For payments of rental arrears, the agreement should provide the amount paid by the program, include the number of months of arrears paid, and any other terms and conditions of the payment. The agreement should reflect the evidence/documentation used to justify that the arrears are an eligible payment.

<u>Leases</u>

Each household receiving rental assistance must have a written lease for the rental unit. The lease must be between the owner and the household, or the household and the sponsor agency, in situations where sponsor-based rental assistance is provided. Multiple participants identifying together as a single household may be on the same lease.

Where the assistance is solely for rental arrears, a written agreement may be accepted in place of a written lease, if the agreement gives the participant an enforceable leasehold interest under state law and the agreement and rent owed are sufficiently documented by the owner's financial records, rent ledgers, or canceled checks.

Each lease executed must include a lease provision or incorporate a lease addendum that includes all requirements that apply to tenants, the owner, or lease under VAWA protections:

- <u>HUD Form 5380: Notice of Occupancy Rights under the Violence Against Women Act</u> is a template for programs to use when notifying all households receiving homelessness prevention assistance their rights through this act.
- <u>HUD Form 5382: Certification of Domestic Violence, Dating Violence, Sexual Assault or Stalking Documentation</u> is an optional form to be filled out if a household is a survivor of domestic violence and is seeking VAWA protections from a program. A household may fill out HUD Form 5382 to show that they have experienced domestic violence, dating violence, sexual assault, or stalking, and that they wish to seek protections under VAWA.

While it is mandatory that programs must notify households of both forms, it is optional for a household to complete HUD Form 5382. As a best practice, programs are encouraged to document that households have received both forms in client records.

Habitability Standards

Households assisted with homelessness prevention must have units that meet habitability standards. Inspections must be conducted upon initial occupancy and signed by program staff. An on-site inspection is required anytime a household is receiving rental assistance or financial assistance. Financial assistance includes arrears, security deposit assistance, utility assistance, etc.). Habitability inspections are not required for persons receiving services only (anything other than financial assistance).

Habitability standards do not require a certified inspector to conduct on-site inspections – program staff can perform them. Inspections must be conducted upon initial occupancy and then on an annual basis for the term of assistance.

Following are the habitability standards that programs must follow:

- The unit must be in compliance with all applicable state and local housing codes and licensing requirements.
- Structure and materials: must be structurally sound so as not to pose any health and safety threat to occupants and to protect occupants from the elements.
- Access: must be accessible to occupants without being accessible to unauthorized persons, and must provide an alternate means of egress in case of fire.
- Space and security: must afford adequate space and security for occupants and belongings including an acceptable place to sleep.
- Interior air quality: each room or space must be provided with natural or mechanical ventilation and must be free of air pollutants at levels that threaten the health of the occupants.
- Water supply: must be free from contamination.
- Sanitary facilities: Residents must have access to sufficient sanitary facilities that are in proper operating condition, may be used in privacy, and are adequate for personal cleanliness and the disposal of human waste.

- Thermal environment: must have adequate heating and or cooling facilities in proper working condition.
- Illumination and electricity must have adequate natural or artificial illumination to permit normal indoor activities and to support the health and safety of occupants. Sufficient electrical sources must be provided to permit use of essential electrical appliances while assuring safety from fire.
- Food preparation and refuse disposal: all food preparation areas must contain suitable space and equipment to store, prepare, and serve food in a sanitary manner.
- Sanitary condition: housing and any equipment must be maintained in a sanitary condition.
- Fire safety:
 - o Each dwelling must include at least one battery-operated or hard-wired smoke detector, in proper working condition, on each occupied level of the unit. Smoke detectors must be located, to the extent practicable, in a hallway adjacent to a bedroom. If the unit is occupied by hearing- impaired persons, smoke detectors must have an alarm system designed for the hearing- impaired in each bedroom occupied by a hearing-impaired person.
 - Public areas of all housing must be equipped with a sufficient number, but not less than one for each area, of battery-operated or hard-wired detectors. Public areas include, but are not limited to, laundry rooms, community rooms, day care centers, hallways, stairwell, and common areas.
 - There must also be a second means of exiting the building in the event of fire or other emergency.

Lead-Based Paint Requirements

Lead-based paint requirements exist to protect vulnerable families from potential health hazards. Every program must ensure that households assisted with homelessness prevention have met HUD requirements for lead-based paint visual assessment.

Program Requirements:

- 1. Assign staff to conduct visual lead-based inspections
- 2. Determine whether lead-based paint requirements are triggered for unit
- 3. Inform client and property owner of the lead-based paint requirements and schedule visual assessment
- 4. Conduct visual assessment
- 5. Identify risks and compare to "de minimis" level
- 6. Make assistance determination
- 7. Confirm all identified deteriorated paint has been stabilized by property owner
- 8. Respond to a child with elevated blood leads levels
- 9. Conduct ongoing lead-based paint monitoring (Annually)

Lead-based paint visual assessment must be completed for all units that meet the three following conditions:

- 1. The household living in the unit is being assisted with rental assistance and/or financial assistance (ex: utilities assistance, utility/security deposits, or arrears)
- 2. The unit was constructed prior to 1978
- 3. A child under the age of six is, child under 6 will be living in the unit or a pregnant woman will live there

Exceptions – Visual assessments by staff are not required under the following circumstances:

- Unit has a lead-free certificate
- It is a zero-bedroom or Single Room Occupancy (SRO) sized unit (studio apartments, dormitories, etc.);
- The property has had all lead-based paint identified and removed in accordance with HUD regulations;
- The client is receiving Federal assistance from another program, where the unit has already undergone a visual assessment within the past 12 months e.g., if the client has a Section 8 voucher and is receiving assistance for a security deposit or arrears (note, in such cases, staff are required to obtain documentation that a visual assessment has been conducted from the agency administering the other form of assistance for the case file); or
- It meets any of the other exemptions described in 24 CFR Part 35.115(a).

If any of the conditions outlined above are met, program staff simply need to document the condition by completing the *ESG Lead Screening Worksheet* and placing a copy in the case file.

Recordkeeping Requirements

All records pertaining to each fiscal year of funding must be retained for 5 years after the closeout of the grant. Copies made by microfilming, photocopying, or similar methods may be substituted for the original records.

Rental Assistance

Client files/records must include copies of all leases and rental assistance agreements, documentation of payments made to owners for the provision of rental assistance, and supporting documentation for these payments, including dates of occupancy by program participants.

Habitability Standards

Programs must use the *Habitability Standards Checklist* as a guide to conduct the on-site inspection. This checklist should be completed upon initial occupancy and on an annual basis for the term of assistance. Copies of the completed checklists should be included in the case files for documentation purposes.

Lead-Based Paint Requirements

Programs must place a completed copy of the Lead-Based Paint Screening Worksheet in the client's case file. If remediation of lead-based paint was required, keep copies of all documents related to property owner disclosures, remediation efforts, lead certificate / second visual assessment results, and any resources provided to household about lead exposure.

Homeless Management Information System (HMIS)

Homelessness Prevention programs are required to enter participants in the IVCCC Homeless Management Information System at first contact, reassessment, and exit, per current HMIS Data Standards. Programs that are specifically forbidden by other statutes or regulations to participate in HMIS, (e.g., victim service providers) must participate utilizing an approved comparable database to meet reporting requirements. Programs are expected to have staff who are licensed users of HMIS to collect the required information from households at specified times and enter the information directly into the database. This requirement helps to ensure coordination between service providers through IVCCC while avoiding duplication of services and client data and provides an opportunity to document eligibility for assistance.

Programs must enter as soon as possible but no more than five business days after it is collected and maintain all data required to complete all reporting requirements established by HUD. All HMIS participating agencies must also adhere to the policies and procedures outlined in the HMIS Standard Operating Procedures, including timely, accurate, and complete data quality management.

All new program entries must be recorded in HMIS, ensuring that the date of entry corresponds correctly to the date that the household was found to be eligible and admitted to the program.

Eligible Activities and Costs – The following are allowable activities and costs of contributing data to the HMIS designated by the CoC:

- Hardware and software costs:
 - o Purchasing or leasing computer hardware
 - Purchasing software or software licenses
 - Purchasing or leasing
- Training and overhead:
 - Obtaining technical support
 - Leasing office space
 - Costs of utilities and high-speed data transmission necessary to operate or contribute data to the HMIS
 - Staff travel costs to attend HUD-sponsored and HUD-approved HMIS training
 - o Staff travel costs to conduct intake
 - Participation fees charged by the HMIS Lead, if the subgrantee is not the HMIS Lead
- Staffing:

APPENDIX I: ESG Policy – Homelessness Prevention (HP)

- Completing data entry
- Monitoring and reviewing data quality
- Completing data analysis
- Reporting to the HMIS Lead
- Training staff on using the HMIS
- Implementing and complying with HMIS requirements
- Comparable database:
 - For use by subsubgrantees that are victim services or authorized legal services providers.

Termination of Participation

All participants have due process rights if facing program termination. Program participants receiving rental assistance or housing relocation and stabilization services, who are in violation of program requirements, and assistance is being terminated, shall be provided the following:

- Written notice to the household containing a clear statement of the reasons for termination/denial.
- A review of the decision, in which the household is given the opportunity to present written or oral objections before a person other than the person (or a subordinate of that person) who made or approved the termination/denial decision; and
- Prompt written notice of the final decision to the household.

Exercise judgment and examine all extenuating circumstances in determining when violations warrant termination so that a participant's assistance is terminated only in the most severe cases. Causes for termination may include, but are not limited to, failure to abide by any agreed-upon requirements and participant fraud. Termination from the program does not prevent providing further assistance at a later date to the same household.

Appeal Process

The appeal process shall provide a fair and impartial due process for participants that believe they have been unjustly terminated from or denied program assistance. Participants may contest and appeal any decision that denies (for any reason), limits eligibility of participant or terminates or modifies levels of assistance. The appeal process will be triggered by a written appeal or verbal via telephone following the notification of service termination or denial of service by the grantee to the participant.

Appeal procedures must include:

- Date by when an appeal must be requested. For example 30 days from date of notice.
- Written description of the appeal from the participant including any documentation demonstrating that they should not be termination/denied assistance. Such information may be taken via telephone if necessary.

- Review of the appeal before a person other than the person (or a subordinate of that person) who made or approved the termination/denial decision.
- Prompt written notification of the decision to the household will be issued within 30 days of hearing date.

The appeal process shall be communicated to each participant at program entry, and a copy of the procedures shall be provided for their reference. A signed acknowledgement of the grievance and appeal process is included in each participant record.

ESG-CV Homelessness Prevention Documents Required by Activity		
Document	Rental Assistance	Housing Relocation and Stabilization Services
Documentation of at-risk of Homelessness	Х	X
Income Evaluation	Х	Х
Income Documentation	Х	Х
Services and Assistance provided to participant	Х	X
Housing Stability Plan	Х	X
Rental Assistance Agreement	Х	
Rent reasonableness Certification	Х	
Minimum Habitability Standards	Х	
Evidence household receive Lead Based Pain disclosures (units build before 1/1/1978 w/children under 6	X	
Evidence household received Protect Your Family from Lead in your home pamphlet	X	
Lead Based Paint Visual Assessment (Households with children under age 6	Х	
Lease	Х	
VAWA Lease Addendum	Х	

Below is a table of documents required by activity based on the policies listed above:

VAWA Notice of Occupancy	Х	
Requirements (HUD 5380)		
VAWA victim Self-	Х	
certification (5382) (if		
applicable)		
VAWA Emergency transfer	Х	
Request (HUD 5383) (if		
applicable)		
Notification of termination of	Х	Х
ESG Services (if applicable)		
Termination of Assistance	Х	Х
Appeal		

Staffing Plan

Programs should evaluate the different staff roles in their Homelessness Prevention program and consider adjusting their structure if necessary, to increase capacity and ensure they have the right amount of staff with the appropriate skills. Common staff roles include:

- Case Manager Staff primarily responsible for providing ongoing case management throughout the client's time in the program, providing varying levels and focus on case management depending on which phase of Homelessness Prevention the household is in;
- Housing/Landlord Engagement Specialist Staff primarily responsible for outreaching and engaging with landlords, doing property searches, supporting clients throughout the housing search process, including creating budgets, understanding the terms of the lease, and doing unit inspections. When programs have both staff positions, they would work closely together with clients while each holding distinct roles. Once the client is housed, the Case Manager would maintain ongoing contact with the client.
- Program Manager Staff member responsible for overseeing the Homelessness Prevention program, including planning and projecting program budget, overseeing client/Case Manager assignments and ratios, determining when the program has capacity for additional clients, and approving rental subsidy models and exceptions to the approved model.

Training/Onboarding: Within 30 days of hire, new staff must be oriented to the basic program standards of practice. Staff who provide direct services and those who supervise staff that provide direct services should be trained in the core components of Homelessness Prevention, as well as the following:

- Housing First and Progressive Engagement approaches
- Trauma Informed services
- Harmed Reduction
- Coordinated Entry policies and procedures
- HMIS/CES requirements and procedures

The following are recommended caseload sizes based on acuity classifications and service needs:

APPENDIX I: ESG Policy – Homelessness Prevention

Acuity Classification	Caseload Size
High Acuity	1:10 – 1:15
Moderate Acuity	1:16 – 1:30
Low Acuity	1:31 – 1:50

High Acuity

High acuity needs require small caseload sizes (1:10–1:15), high levels of coordination with other care providers (especially mental/behavioral health), and staff expertise in behavioral health and medical care coordination, fair housing for people living with disabilities, and evidence-based practices and service approaches.

Moderate-Acuity Needs

Moderate-acuity needs allow for caseload sizes to be slightly larger (1:16–1:30). Similar to high acuity, moderate acuity needs require high levels of coordination with other care providers and staff expertise in behavioral health and medical care coordination, fair housing for people living with disabilities, and evidence-based practices and service approaches. Some individuals assessed and meeting moderate-acuity classifications served in Homelessness Prevention may need more than time-limited rental subsidy and services support.

Low-Acuity Needs

Low-acuity needs allow for the largest caseload sizes (1:31–1:50). Care coordination and warm handoffs to other community providers remain essential, though the length of time support services are needed to stabilize may be less.

Administration

At the provider level, administrative costs are reimbursed through an eligible indirect cost rate plan. Depending on the provider's indirect cost rate, Homelessness Prevention programs may request reimbursement based on their respective indirect cost plan. There are three options for requesting reimbursement of indirect costs:

- ▶ Option 1: The 10 Percent De Minimis Rate
- Option 2: Negotiated Indirect Cost Rate Agreement
- Option 3: Cost Allocation Plan

Indirect cost reimbursement allows for reimbursement of administrative activities where there are combined or joint objectives, including general management to oversee staff, accounting or clerical support staff, and office operations. *Indirect costs do not include staff and overhead costs directly related to carrying out activities eligible under any of the program components listed above, because those costs are eligible as part of those activities.* With reference to the indirect cost rate that is approved, the indirect cost plan should be applied uniformly across all grants and programs and with all funders. Eligible indirect costs may allow for reimbursements

for the following activities when the activity has a combined or joint objective across several grants :

- (1) General management, oversight and coordination. Costs of overall program management, coordination, monitoring, and evaluation. These costs include, but are not limited to, necessary expenditures for the following:
 - Salaries, wages, and related costs of staff engaged in program administration. Program administration assignments include the following:
 - Preparing program budgets and schedules, and amendments to those budgets and schedules;
 - Developing systems for assuring compliance with program requirements;
 - Monitoring program activities for progress and compliance with program requirements;
 - Preparing reports and other documents directly related to the program for submission to IVCCC;
 - Coordinating the resolution of audit and monitoring findings;
 - Evaluating program results against stated objectives; and
 - Managing or supervising persons whose primary responsibilities with regard to the program include such assignments as those described in this section.
- Other costs for goods and services required for administration of the program, including rental or purchase of equipment, insurance, utilities, office supplies, and rental and maintenance (but not purchase) of office space.
- (2) Training on ESG requirements. Costs of providing training on ESG requirements and attending HUD-sponsored ESG trainings.